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COM DEV is evolving. We are, as we have always 
been, a world-leading space manufacturer with an  
unsurpassed reputation for quality and reliability. 
But we are becoming more than that. We are 
making use of our 35 years of experience 
building products for spacecraft to expand into 
building our own complete microsatellites and 
selling the data they gather. We’ve identified 
specific market oppor tunities and are pursuing 
them in a carefully planned manner. We are  
taking greater control of our own destiny.  
This evolution is logical.
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Humankind 
depends on space
for more 
applications 
than ever

This composite picture of the Cat’s Eye Nebula was created by combining a Hubble Space 
Telescope image with new X-ray data from the orbiting Chandra Observatory.

Humankind 
depends on space
for more 
applications 
than ever

This composite picture of the Cat’s Eye Nebula was created by combining a Hubble Space 
Telescope image with new X-ray data from the orbiting Chandra Observatory.
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Humankind
depends on space
for more
applications
than ever

Humankind
depends on space
for more
applications
than ever

world space market growth forecast

LOGICAL GROWTH

The world space market is growing. For five decades it has grown steadily. Humankind now depends on space 

technology for its communications, entertainment, navigation, scientific research, environmental monitoring and 

global security. This reliance will continue to increase because more and more functions can be better performed from 

space than anywhere else. The market opportunity is significant for innovative companies like COM DEV, which has 

placed equipment on more spacecraft (over 750) than any other company. But the growth rate of the overall market 

is modest—perhaps three to five percent annually. To outpace the market you must increase your share of existing 

products or take a leadership role in emerging technologies.

Source: Euroconsult 1999–2008 2009–2018

1185

804

+47%
total satellites  
launched worldwide
(commercial, civil & military) 
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sell into emerging markets

broaden U.S. customer base
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SATELLITE PRODUCTS—a logical progression

COM DEV: selected product development timeline
 

introduction

products under 
development

Software-Defined Radio 2011
High Speed Downlink 2011
MEO Search & Rescue Subsystems 2010
High Frequency Coaxial Switches 2009
TT&C Transponders 2007
Miniature Switches 2006
UHF Subsystems and Electronics 2003
Ferrite Switch Matrices 2002
Temperature Compensated Multiplexers 2002
Advanced Star Trackers 2000
Millimeter Wave Science Instrument Subsystems 1997
Radiometers 1995
Satcom Aeronautical LNA-Diplexers 1995
Specialty Antennas 1994
Frequency Converters 1993
Satellite Radar Subsystems 1991
Dielectric Input Multiplexers 1990
Coaxial Switches 1986
Ferrite Switches 1985
Waveguide Switches 1984
LEO Search & Rescue Subsystems 1983
Variable Power Dividers 1982
Surface Acoustic Wave Devices (SAW) 1980
Multiplexers 1979
Passive Microwave Components 1977
Microwave Filters 1975

We generate virtually all of our exist ing revenues from the design and manufacture of satellite  
products. We may build thousands in a year (e.g. passive microwave switches) or only one in our  
lifetime (e.g. an instrument to help search for water molecules in deepest space). COM DEV is one  
of the world’s foremost manufacturers of space hardware subsystems. We supply over half of the 
addressable market in our core products like switches, filters and multiplexers. In recent years, we 
have leveraged our space engineering expertise to diversify from our traditional strength in com-
mercial communications satellites into the government space sector, which now represents nearly 
half our revenues. Our strategy to continue to grow this business includes: improving and expanding 
our product portfolio through our R&D program; offering our customers more integrated solutions  
to reduce their risk; and extending our penetration of the U.S. government market by broadening  
our customer base and transitioning technology from Canada.



This image of bushfires raging in southeast Australia was made from data collected  
by the Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer (ASTER).

The miniaturization  
of technology  
has created new  
possibilities in  
space that were  
inconceivable until 
very recently

This image of bushfires raging in southeast Australia was made from data collected  
by the Advanced Spaceborne Thermal Emission and Reflection Radiometer (ASTER).
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GEO satellites vs. microsatellites (typical range)

LOGICAL EVOLUTION OF SATELLITES

A new breed of smaller, lighter and more cost effective spacecraft is emerging. The miniaturization trends that enable 

today’s mobile devices to pack more computing power than the desktop PC of 15 years ago have also paved the way 

for microsatellites. A whole new set of needs can now be addressed from space in a more cost effective manner than 

using terrestrial or airborne systems. Microsatellite missions provide affordable solutions to a large customer base 

for a growing range of applications. These applications include environmental monitoring, asset tracking, resource 

management, earth observation, remote data communications and maritime surveillance and security.

Geosynchronous 
Earth Orbit  
satellites 
Ideal solution  
for continuous  
transmission of  
high-volume data  
to a wide area

Microsatellites
Affordable, flexible  
solutions for Low  
Earth Orbit missions

size
(in kilograms)

cost
(in millions of dollars)

development 
time 

(in years)

1000–3000

50–100

200–500

10–50

3–6

1–2
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data
collection

data
collection

downloading

ground station

data & operations centre

Our microsatellites are 
designed to orbit the 
Earth at an altitude  
of 600 to 800 kilo-
meters and can provide 
coverage over the 
entire globe if required. 
The satellites collect 
data from a specific 
point on the Earth,  
store it and then down-
load the data when  
over a ground station.  
The ground stations are  
positioned in geo graphic 
locations to meet the 
customer’s need for the 
timeliness of the data. 
The data is then sent  
to a data processing 
centre where it is pro-
cessed and sent to the 
end user. The mission 
operations centre is 
used to provide control 
of the spacecraft.

missions infrastructure

MICROSATELLITE MISSIONS—a logical step

COM DEV is establishing the capability to design, build, launch and operate microsatellites to  
satisfy a range of civil, military and commercial applications on a global scale. Small space platforms 
can provide cost-effective solutions for applications such as environmental monitoring, wide area 
surveillance and resource management. We have been engaged in identifying existing and future 
needs that can be effectively satisfied by microsatellites —either as individual spacecraft or in 
constellations. Our AIM class bus can support a number of instrument and sensor platforms and 
provides versatility as well as room for growth in terms of power, on-board computing capacity  
and orbital positioning. Microsatellite missions are attractive due to their rapid deployment potential, 
low cost and global coverage capability. Expansion into microsatellite missions takes full advantage 
of COM DEV technologies, processes and personnel in the bus and payload segments and offers the 
potential for additional data sales and service revenue. 



Ships detected from space by COM DEV’s  
demonstration AIS nanosatellite. 

Space-based 
AIS data  
will provide 
unprecedented 
visibility into  
global maritime 
traffic

Ships detected from space by COM DEV’s  
demonstration AIS nanosatellite. 
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facts about maritime surveillance

Maritime shipping is a vitally important means of moving goods around the world. Yet the world knows surprisingly 

little about the whereabouts of its ships at any given time. Countries lack visibility into who might be approaching by 

sea because the vastness of the oceans makes it impractical to monitor maritime traffic until the vessels are close to 

shore. Maritime surveillance is an application that is ideally suited for satellites, which are uniquely capable of viewing 

entire oceans. The challenge lies not in spotting the ships, however, but in reliably identifying and tracking them from 

space. Large ships already transmit AIS (Automatic Identification System) signals, originally designed for collision 

avoidance purposes, that specify their identity, location, destination, speed and other information. A space-based AIS 

detection system would provide information useful for vessel traffic management, environmental monitoring, search 

and rescue, and security.

$8.5 trillion Total value of goods carried by ship in 2009

>$3.0 billion Amount spent by G20 on maritime surveillance  
and safety in 2009

80,000 Ships already transmitting AIS signals

80 miles Typical maximum distance from which shore-based 
AIS receivers can detect an approaching ship

100% Proportion of Earth’s surface covered by  
exactAIS service

A LOGICAL APPLICATION
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exac tEa r th  sa te l l i t es

From their vantage 
point in orbit 650 km 
above the Earth’s 
surface, the micro-
satellites in the 
exactAIS constella-
tion have a “field of 
view” approximately 
5,000 km in diameter. 
The objective of  
each spacecraft is  
to collect AIS trans-
missions from all  
the ships that are 
within its field of view. 
The satellites complete 
one orbit in 90 to 
100 minutes.

S AT E L L I T E  DATA  S E RV I C E S —a log ica l  ex tens ion

The sale of the data generated by a satellite is considered to be at the top of the industry’s value 
chain. With its high-margin, recurring revenues, a successful data services business has the poten-
tial to transform COM DEV and significantly increase returns to shareholders. This is a new business 
model for us, and we have proceeded methodically to ensure that we effectively manage risks. 
In 2010, we launch our exactAIS service—the sale of space-based AIS (Automatic Identification 
System) data which will locate every large vessel worldwide and contribute to global maritime safety, 
security and environmental protection. We anticipate strong market demand for this data, which is 
dramatically better than anything currently available. In time we plan to add more services that utilize 
the exactEarth infrastructure we’ve put in place. A key difference from our traditional business is 
that we are communicating directly with end customers, allowing us to be even more proactive and 
closely connected with the marketplace than usual.
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LETTER  TO SHAREHOLDERS

FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,
I am pleased to report that 2009 was another successful year for COM DEV. We maintained our track record of increasing revenues 
and profitability, even as we made significant investments in key growth initiatives. With the progress we made this year in several of 
these initiatives, I believe we are now able to paint a clearer picture for our shareholders of our vision for the Company’s future.

We grew revenues by 14 percent to $240 million in 2009. The civil and military segments grew fastest at 18 percent and 
31 percent, respectively, but the commercial segment was once again our largest, accounting for over half of total revenues. Demand 
for commercial satellites continues to be driven by the transition to HDTV broadcasts as well as the unavoidable need to replacing 
aging spacecraft.

As anticipated, the space industry has largely withstood the global economic downturn. Nevertheless, it is an industry which 
tends to grow at a modest three to five percent annually. Our primary objective is to outperform that broader market. We have done 
so through strategies like the ones we describe in this report, achieving a compound annual growth rate of 18 percent over the past 
six years.

Effective execution is key to success in our business. A high win rate in 2009 led to a record $249 million of new orders and a 
year-end backlog of $163 million, providing us very good visibility into 2010 revenues. Solid performance on the vast majority of our 
programs enabled us to increase gross margins by a full point to 27 percent despite an unfavourable shift in currency exchange rates. 
Net income improved by 24 percent to $15 million.

Our results would have been even stronger were it not for a write-down we incurred at year-end due to a couple of underperform-
ing programs in our COM DEV Canada division. We took immediate steps to rectify the situation, and I remain very excited about 
the prospects for our domestic government business. Our team continues to participate in a number of groundbreaking civil space 
programs. We are working closely with the Canadian Space Agency, Department of National Defence and others to help ensure a 
meaningful role for COM DEV in future space initiatives.

A major accomplishment for us in the past year has been to successfully ramp up our COM DEV USA division, achieving profitabil-
ity and more than doubling the revenue run rate of the established passive microwave product line we acquired midway through fiscal 
2008. We now have a solid foothold in the world’s largest space market. We are engaged in active dialogue with several of the major 
space manufacturers we’ve worked with for decades on the commercial side about outsourcing a portion of their civil and military 
work to our California facility. Our other key priority for the division is to transition from Canada some of our flight-proven technology 
that may be of use on U.S. government programs.

DELIVERING ON STRATEGY
COM DEV’s core strategic principles have been consistent for the seven years that the current leadership team has been in place. 
Focus on space. Diversify geographically, by market segment and by product. Expand into adjacent markets. Let customer demand 
drive our development activities. Select niches in which we can achieve a dominant position, and where customers are willing to pay 
a premium for high reliability.
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 Adherence to these strategies has resulted in our successful diversification into the civil and defence segments, our expansion 
in both the Canadian and U.S. government space markets, and the broadening of our product portfolio. The same principles are now 
leading us to establish a microsatellite missions capability and a data services business. 
 Microsatellite missions are a natural extension for COM DEV. We recognized several years ago that we are ideally suited to  
lead in this emerging niche which requires agility, responsiveness and innovation. Our space engineering expertise provides us the 
necessary skills to design and build these spacecraft. There are no entrenched incumbents because the technology is relatively new. 
The potential applications for the technology are broad, ranging from environmental monitoring to surveillance to resource manage-
ment. We believe there are attractive opportunities to offer microsatellite solutions both domestically and internationally. We expect 
to begin operating our first missions in 2010, and to launch our new microsatellite design in 2011.
 The data services market is equally compelling for us. Rather than a one-time technology sale, we have select opportunities to 
generate an ongoing, high margin revenue stream. Last year we formed a subsidiary called exactEarth Ltd. to offer data services  
to customers worldwide. In 2010, exactEarth will launch its first offering: a maritime tracking service called exactAIS. We are targeting 
$50 million of annual revenues within a few years and anticipate breaking even at about one third of that level. In time we plan to 
leverage the infrastructure we establish by adding further services.
 Both of these new capabilities offer COM DEV greater ability to chart its own destiny. In our traditional business we are one or two 
steps removed from the end user of the satellite data. In contrast, we can now create our own opportunities by reaching out directly 
to potential customers around the world and proposing innovative solutions to their problems. I like to say that we now have “a seat at 
the table” where key decisions are being made.
 An important message for our investors to remember is that we are absolutely maintaining our focus on growing the core business 
that we expect will continue to generate the majority of our revenues for the foreseeable future. Our goal is to layer new initiatives like 
microsatellites and data services on top of the existing revenue stream to accelerate our growth. This has always been our formula for 
outperforming the market, and throughout these recent years of expansion our core business has grown stronger in every respect.
In fact, we anticipate synergies between the new and traditional businesses. We expect that some of the components we are develop-
ing for our microsatellites can be sold to other manufacturers as stand-alone products once they have gained flight heritage on our 
own spacecraft. And, of course, it is the consistent performance of our existing business that allows us to fund new initiatives.
 In 2009, we marked the 35th anniversary of COM DEV’s founding and the 30th anniversary of our relocation to Cambridge, 
Ontario. A good number of our employees have been with the Company for the majority of that time. The dedication and passion 
of our entire team has been and will remain essential to our success. I extend my appreciation to all of them, and to our customers 
and shareholders as well, for their ongoing commitment to COM DEV.

 
John Keating
Chief Executive Officer
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (in millions of dollars)

revenue (year ended October 31)

backlog (as at October 31)

net income (year ended October 31)

orders (year ended October 31)

34
154

47

73

108

21.2

179

22
124

30

71

86

5.2

133

33
164

49

82

146

10.9

207

30
210

53

127

158

12.4

230

40
240

63

138

163

15.3

249

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

military

civil

commercial
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS  
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION
The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) provides information that management believes is rel-

evant to an assessment and understanding of COM DEV International Ltd.’s (“the Company” or “COM DEV”) consolidated 

results of operations and financial condition. This discussion should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited 

consolidated financial statements including the notes thereto for the year ended October 31, 2009 (“the Consolidated 

Financial Statements”). The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian gener-

ally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and are reported in Canadian dollars. The information contained herein is 

dated as of January 11, 2010.

CAUTION REGARDING FUTURE ORIENTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Certain statements contained in this report contain forward-looking statements, including, (without limitation) state-

ments concerning possible or assumed future results of operations of the Company preceded by, followed by or that 

include the words “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”, “estimates”, “intends”, “plans”, “forecasts”, “guidance”, or similar 

expressions. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. They involve risks, uncertainties 

and assumptions and the Company’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking 

statements. Additional information relating to the Company and the risks inherent in its business is provided in the 

Company’s Annual Information Form for the year ended October 31, 2009 and other documents available on SEDAR at 

www.sedar.com. 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) contains Future Oriented Financial Information (FOFI) in 

several areas, notably: in discussing R&D spending levels, SG&A spending, revenue growth guidance, and gross margin 

trending. Readers are again cautioned that this FOFI is provided solely to provide a view of the operations through the 

eyes of management, based on management’s current expectations in these areas, and should not be used for any other 

purpose. Readers are reminded that, as noted above, FOFI are not guarantees of future performance, and should not be 

considered such, since actual results may differ materially from those expressed in the FOFI. 

COMMENT ON CURRENT GLOBAL ECONOMIC CONDITIONS
For a more complete analysis of risks faced by the Company, and additional comments on the global economic environ-

ment, please refer to the section “Business Risks and Prospects”, included later in this MD&A. 

USE OF NON-GAAP MEASURES
In this MD&A, we provide information about orders and contract backlog. Orders and backlog measures are not defined 

by Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and our measurement of them may vary from that used 

by others. The Company measures orders as the sum of fully executed contracts from our customers. The Company 

measures backlog as the sum of all customers’ orders at contract value (including the contract value of change notices 

subsequently received) to date, less revenue recognized against those orders, plus or minus the impact of foreign 

exchange fluctuations on orders denominated in foreign currency. The Company includes in its backlog determination 

only those amounts that are covered by contracts. While we believe that long-term backlog trends serve as a useful 

metric for assessing the growth prospects for our business, backlog is not a guarantee of future revenues and provides 

no information about the timing on which future revenue may be recorded.
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OVERVIEW 
COM DEV is a leading global designer, manufacturer and distributor of space communications and space science prod-

ucts and systems. The Company began operations in 1974 and completed its initial public offering in December 1996. 

The Company is headquartered in Cambridge, Ontario, Canada, with additional operations in Aylesbury, England; Ottawa, 

Ontario, Canada; El Segundo, California; and Xian, China. The Company’s common shares trade on The Toronto Stock 

Exchange under the symbol “CDV”. COM DEV employed 1,337 people around the world as of October 31, 2009, com-

pared to 1,206 people as of October 31, 2008. 

COM DEV designs and manufactures advanced instruments and microwave products for space satellites such  

as multiplexers, filters, switches, surface acoustic wave (SAW) devices, signal processors, satellite payloads, and  

micro-satellite spacecraft. The products are sold to substantially all of the major satellite prime contractors for use in 

commercial communications, military/defense communications and space science satellites. Recently, the Company 

has begun to position itself for the sale of information from its own satellites, which are scheduled to launch in 2010.

OVERALL PERFORMANCE
During the Company’s 2009 fiscal year, 29 satellite programs were awarded in the global space market, compared with 

35 in fiscal 2008. The number of transponders on these satellites totaled 1,406 in fiscal 2009, representing a 13% 

increase from the 1,240 transponders awarded in the global market in fiscal 2008. The increase in the absolute number 

of transponders was seen in the commercial and civil sectors. The breakdown of satellites and transponders awarded 

between the three market sectors (commercial, civil, and military/defense) can be summarized as follows:

 Years ended October 31

 2009  2008

Sector  Satellites  Transponders  Satellites  Transponders

Commercial  22  1,064  25  941

Civil  6  278  6  163

Military/Defense  1  64  4  136

Total  29  1,406  35  1,240

Of the 29 satellite programs announced in fiscal 2009, COM DEV has secured work on 20, and is still in the 

running for work on an additional seven programs. This compares to fiscal 2008, when of the 35 satellites announced  

in the market, COM DEV has secured work on 26 to date, and is still pursuing work on two others.

The Company’s 2009 workload continued to be balanced between commercial and non-commercial proj-

ects. The Company received orders for a total of $249.0 million in new business during the year, compared with 

$230.1 million the previous year. The profile of this new business reflects the continuing strength of the commercial 

market segment in 2009, and the Company’s ability to capitalize on this available work. Of the $249.0 million in new 

orders won in 2009, 55% came from the commercial sector of the space market, 23% from the civil sector, and 22% 

from the military/defense sector. By comparison, of the $230.1 million in business won in 2008, 50% came from the 

commercial sector, with the civil and military/defense sectors accounting for 36% and 14%, respectively. 

Included in the $249.0 million of new orders received in fiscal 2009 are orders received under Authority to 

Proceed (ATP). In recent years, as delivery schedules have become more critical, customers are increasingly using ATPs 

as a way to start a subcontractor working, under contract, on a program while the full contract negotiations are con-

cluded. COM DEV includes only work for which it has contractual coverage in its reported orders and backlog. In the case 

of ATP awards, the Company includes only the value of the ATP, not the expected full value of the contract. Only after 
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contract negotiations are completed, and the customer has awarded COM DEV the full contract, does the Company 

include the value above the ATP in its orders and backlog. At the end of fiscal 2009, the amount of potential order value 

in excess of ATP, which management expects to realize, stood at $7.0 million.* This compares to $48.1 million at the 

end of fiscal 2008. The expected full contract amounts are based on bid values, and the historically high percentage of 

ATPs being ultimately turned into full contract values.

In addition to maintaining a balanced distribution of work between the commercial and non-commercial 

market sectors, the Company also continued to achieve diversification in its geographic markets. In 2009, 19% of the 

Company’s new orders were from Europe, 57% from the United States, 13% from Canada, and 11% from the rest of the 

world (ROW). This compares to 24%, 38%, 30% and 8% respectively in 2008, again demonstrating that the Company’s 

products continue to successfully penetrate the world’s major satellite markets.

The Company closed out the fiscal year 2009 with backlog totaling $163.3 million, which represents a 3.2% 

increase over the 2008 year-end closing backlog of $158.2 million. Approximately 11% of the 2009 year-end closing 

backlog is currently expected to be realized beyond the end of the Company’s 2010 fiscal year,* compared to approxi-

mately 17% of the closing fiscal 2008 backlog being realized beyond the end of its 2009 fiscal year. The expected amount 

of backlog to be realized beyond the upcoming fiscal year is based on the current projections for project performance.

The volatility of the U.S. dollar continued to impact the business during 2009. According to the Bank of Canada, 

the average exchange rate during the fiscal year 2009 was 1.1695 which compares to the 2008 fiscal year average 

of 1.0268. The U.S. dollar saw significant weakening in the second half of the year with the U.S. dollar exchange rate 

averaging 1.0754. In 2009, the weakening of the U.S. dollar had the effect of decreasing revenues by $1.9 million, 

compared to 2008, when a strengthening U.S. dollar had the effect of increasing revenues by $8.3 million. Most of the 

revenue impact in each year flowed through to gross margin as a result of the low level of U.S. sourced material in most 

programs. The hedging program in place at the Company had a positive impact on net income of $3.6 million, while in 

2008 it had a negative impact on net income of $6.0 million. 

Gross margins for the year improved over the prior year, averaging 27.0% in 2009 compared with 25.7% in 2008. 

This improvement in gross margins reflects several factors, including higher volumes of work flowing through the organi-

zation during the year, and from the El Segundo operation which was fully online starting in the first quarter of 2009. 

R&D spending for 2009 reached $17.5 million, compared to $17.4 million in 2008. The current year spending 

represents 7.3% of revenues, compared with 8.3% of revenues in fiscal 2008. The Company remains committed to its 

R&D technology roadmap.

The Company made significant investments during 2009 in support of its growth objectives. In total, $20.6 million 

in capital was invested in equipment and capacity in our Canadian and U.S. operations, including a 30,000 square foot 

building, and continued development of key technology needed in the Company’s Mission Development Group (MDG) and 

in its exactEarth subsidiary. The acquired building is located in Cambridge, Ontario, and is used to provide office and lab 

space to the Company’s MDG and exactEarth operations. In 2008, the Company invested a total of $27.3 million through a 

combination of its acquisition of the Passive Microwave Devices product line from L-3 Communications and its investment 

in equipment and capacity expansion in Cambridge, El Segundo, Ottawa and Aylesbury. 

The Company’s $32 million operating line of credit remains undrawn at the end of fiscal 2009 except for 

$1.0 million ($0.9 million in 2008) in the form of guarantee letters issued to customers in the normal course of 

operations by the bank on behalf of the Company. The Company also has a term debt facility of $30 million through 

* Future oriented financial information (FOFI).  Please refer to Caution Regarding FOFI on page 17 of this document.
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GE Capital Solutions, which has been almost fully drawn to complete the Company’s 2007 expansion into the U.S. 

Payments against this credit facility are being made in accordance with the terms of the agreement. 

For a more complete analysis of risks faced by the Company, please refer to the section “Business Risks and 

Prospects” included later in this MD&A.

SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION* (prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP)

 Years ended October 31

(in thousands of dollars, except per share amounts)  2009  2008  2007

Revenue   $ 240,410   $ 210,348   $ 164,330

Net income – continuing operations   $ 15,306   $ 12,379   $ 11,853

Earnings per share, basic & diluted – continuing operations**   $ 0.21   $ 0.18   $ 0.17

Net Income   $ 15,306   $ 12,379   $ 10,879

Earnings per share, basic & diluted**   $ 0.21   $ 0.18   $ 0.16

Total assets   $ 235,218   $ 203,529   $ 165,411

Long-term financial liabilities   $ 15,273   $ 25,447   $ 7,692

Cash dividends declared   $ –   $ –   $ –

 * For 2008 to 2009 year-to-year variation commentaries, see the additional comments included in Results Of Operations sections below.
 ** For a complete reconciliation of 2008 and 2009 earnings per share, please refer to Note 13 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)   2009  2008  % change

Commercial satellite programs   $ 138.3   $ 126.9  9.0%

Civil (government) programs   $ 62.5   $ 53.1  17.6%

Military and defense programs   $ 39.6   $ 30.3  30.8%

Total space revenues   $ 240.4   $ 210.3  14.3%

Total revenue for the Company for 2009 was $240.4 million compared to $210.3 million in 2008. The growth of 

revenue in all sectors was a result of the high level of backlog at the start of 2008, strong order bookings and the sound 

contribution of the El Segundo operation to the 2009 revenues. Looking at the Company’s underlying markets, manage-

ment’s outlook remains generally positive, with no weakening of the demand drivers evident to date. Based on current 

market activity levels, and the Company’s historic success rate at winning new business, management has indicated 

that it expects 2010 revenue to grow by at least 10% over fiscal 2009***.

Backlog

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)  2009  2008  % change

Commercial satellite programs   $ 70.9   $ 71.9  (1.4%)

Civil (government) programs   $ 59.3   $ 66.7  (11.0%)

Military and defense programs   $ 33.1   $ 19.6  68.9%

Total backlog   $ 163.3   $ 158.2  3.2%

*** Future oriented financial information (FOFI).  Please refer to Caution Regarding FOFI on page 17 of this document.
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Backlog provides a measure of orders for which revenue has not yet been recognized. As such, backlog is influenced 

by the timing of orders and of revenues. The Company’s backlog of work increased from the October 31, 2008 level 

by $5.1 million, or roughly 3.2%. All of the increase was from the military sector, compared with the prior year, when all 

of the growth in year-end backlog came from the non-commercial sectors. The commercial sector backlog remained 

relatively constant from the prior year, showing a slight decrease from $71.9 million in 2008 to $70.9 million in 2009. 

The civil sector backlog decreased from $66.7 million at October 31, 2008, to $59.3 million at the end of the current 

fiscal year. 

Net Income

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars except earnings per share)  2009  2008  % change

Net income   $ 15.3   $ 12.4  23.4%

Earnings per share, basic and diluted   $ 0.21   $ 0.18  16.7%

Net income in 2009 was $15.3 million compared with $12.4 million in 2008. There were a number of factors 

that impacted net income in 2009. Of primary significance was a 14.3% growth in revenue, at a 1.3% higher average 

gross margin than in 2008. The resulting $10.7 million in additional gross margin was partly offset by lower R&D 

funding received, spending on Selling, General & Administrative (SG&A) and foreign exchange loss costs. Each of these 

is discussed later in this document. 

Gross Margin

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)  2009  2008  % change

Total gross margin   $ 64.9   $ 54.1  19.8%

Total gross margin %  27.0%  25.7%  1.3%

Gross margins for 2009 averaged 27.0% compared to 25.7% in 2008. The 1.3% increase in average gross margin 

percentage was mainly the result of higher production throughput in the Cambridge and El Segundo operations; however, 

disappointing performance in two of our domestic government programs had a negative impact on 2009 gross margins. 

In Q1 2009, COM DEV began classifying certain expenses as SG&A that had previously been recorded as cost 

of revenue. As a result, both gross margin and SG&A are $4.2 million higher in 2009 than they would have been under 

the previous presentation methods. For purposes of comparability, 2008 results are presented in this MD&A and in the 

accompanying financial statements using the current classification system, and therefore these cost of revenue, gross 

margin and SG&A figures differ from the results first announced one year ago.

Research and Development (R&D)

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)  2009  2008  % change

Total R&D spending before funding   $ 17.5   $ 17.4  0.5%

Total R&D funding received   $ (3.9)   $ (7.8)  (50.0%)

R&D, net of funding   $ 13.6   $ 9.6  42.0%
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Fiscal year 2009 R&D spending remained on par with 2008. The amount of R&D funding received fell by 50% from 

2008 levels due mainly to a drop off of funding on a domestic government R&D program. The Company has an estab-

lished R&D technology roadmap that drives its internal research and development activities. This technology roadmap is 

reviewed semi-annually against longer term customer requirements and potential new technologies that show promise 

in meeting those requirements. While the Company works to secure outside funding for its R&D efforts, in the absence 

of funding, it maintains its focus on the activities that form the Company’s technology roadmap. The Company will con-

tinue to work closely with all available sources of outside funding to defray the costs of its R&D efforts, and maintains 

its commitment to technological leadership in its industry. It is important to note that R&D costs noted in the table 

above reflect only Company-funded research and development activities (net of any external offset funding received). 

Customer-funded development costs are included in the Company’s cost of revenue figures.

Other Expenses

 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)  2009  2008  % change

Selling, general and administrative expenses (SG&A)   $ 33.1   $ 29.5  12.7%

SG&A % of total revenue  13.8%  14.0%  (0.2%)

Interest expense / (income)   $ 0.5   $ 0.8  (37.5%)

Foreign exchange loss   $ 2.0   $ 1.4  42.9%

Other expense   $ 0.4   $ 0.5  (20.0%)

Selling, General and Administrative

SG&A expenses for 2009 were $33.1 million compared with $29.5 million in 2008. The increase in costs is attributable 

to start-up activities in the exactEarth subsidiary, to SG&A expenses at the El Segundo facility and to selling costs that 

were $1.2 million higher during the year versus 2008 as a result of the high level of bidding activity. 

Interest (Income)/Expense

The Company incurred interest charges of $0.5 million in fiscal 2009, compared with interest charges of $0.8 million in 

fiscal 2008. The term debt attracts interest at rates varying from LIBOR plus 225 bps to LIBOR plus 360 bps.

Foreign Exchange

The foreign exchange loss in 2009 was $2.0 million, compared with a loss of $1.4 million in 2008. Foreign exchange 

amounts in the Consolidated Statement of Operations include realized and unrealized gains and losses that result 

from balance sheet translation of foreign denominated balances, and mark to market valuation adjustments on the 

Company’s outstanding U.S. dollar hedge contracts. They do not include the impact of foreign exchange fluctuations 

on customer program values, and their resulting profitability, which is reflected in the revenue, cost of revenue and 

gross margin sections of the Consolidated Statement of Operations. For the year, the impact from the mark to market 

valuations on the U.S. dollar hedge contracts was an unrealized exchange gain of $3.6 million, compared to an unreal-

ized exchange loss of $6.0 million in fiscal 2008. The impact of translation of foreign denominated balance sheet items 

during the year was a loss of $5.6 million, compared to a gain of $4.6 million in 2008. 
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Other Expense

Other expense includes bank fees and Export Development Canada (EDC) accounts receivable insurance premiums,  

as well as other miscellaneous items. The Company insures its customer receivables with EDC to the extent possible  

in order to mitigate the risk of non-collection.

Financial Position
The following chart outlines the significant changes in the balance sheet between October 31, 2008 and October 31, 2009:

(in millions of dollars) Increase/(Decrease) Explanation

Cash and cash equivalents  5.3  Refer to Statement of Cash Flows

Accounts receivable  12.6    Higher billing levels due to increased level of work. Collection levels are consistent 
with higher level of billings.

Inventory  5.2   Project inventory increased by $4.2 million; general inventory increased by 
$1.0 million.

Prepaid and other  1.3   Prepaid VAT increased by $0.5 million; prepaid software maintenance increased by 
$0.2 million; and hedge contracts mark-to-market was higher by $0.6 million.

Income taxes recoverable  1.8  Payments on account of disputed tax assessments.

Property, plant & equipment  2.7  Normal capital additions through the year, less normal depreciation.

Intangible assets  2.8   
 

Development of technology to be used in the AIS initiative less normal 
amortization on all intangible assets.

Goodwill  (0.1)  Adjustment to the purchase price of the PMD product line.

Accounts payable and  
 accrued liabilities

 2.5    Normal accounts payable payment cycle, on a higher level of purchasing activity 
due to higher volume of work at the Company.

Deferred revenue 
 

 7.7  
 
 

 
 
 

On certain projects, customer billings are allowed in advance of the work being 
performed. The balance will naturally fluctuate with differences in order profiles, 
progress on contracts and billing milestone schedules.

Current portion of loans payable  0.4   Current portion of draws on term debt facility for land, building, and the PMD 
acquisition.

Loans payable  (9.8)  Normal payments on term debt facility and the impact from lower exchange rate 
at the end of 2009.

Employee future benefits  (0.4)  Benefits obligations related to employees of the acquired PMD product line from 
L-3 Communications.

Share capital  21.9   Issuance of shares in February 2009 for net proceeds of $21.5 million 
plus issuance of shares to satisfy Employee Share Ownership Plan (ESOP) 
commitments.

Contributed surplus  0.9   Value of the ESOP awards, and expense recognized on stock-based Long-Term 
Incentive Plan arrangements.

Deficit  15.3  Net Income for the year.

Accumulated other    
 comprehensive income

 (1.8)  Foreign currency translation of self-sustaining subsidiaries. 
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LIqUIDITy AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 Years ended October 31

(in millions of dollars)  2009  2008  % change

Cash (used in) / from operating activities   $ 10.1   $ (1.3)  n/a

Net (decrease) / increase in cash   $ 5.3   $ (15.6)  n/a

Property, plant and equipment additions   $ 12.8   $ 9.6  (33.3%)

Business acquisition   $ –   $ 13.5  (100%)

The Company generated $10.1 million of cash from operating activities in 2009, compared with 2008 when 

$1.3 million was used. The Company invested $14.3 million in working capital in 2009 which compares to the 

$32.1 million invested in working capital in 2008.

The Company renegotiated its operating line of credit facility with the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce 

in 2009, with the result being an increase in the available credit line from $27 million to its new level of $32 million, 

which was not drawn upon throughout fiscal 2009, except for $1.0 million in the form of guarantee letters issued to 

customers in the normal course of operations by the bank on behalf of the Company. In addition to this operating line 

of credit, the Company also has a treasury risk management facility to facilitate hedging of currency-related risks arising 

in the normal course of operations. Under these facilities, the Company is required to maintain certain financial ratios, 

which the Company has met as of October 31, 2009.

In addition, the Company has a term credit facility totaling $30 million (2008: $30 million) to support its strategic 

and capital initiatives. The Company drew $10.0 million USD in support of the Company’s acquisition of a production 

facility in El Segundo, California, during the third quarter of 2007. In the third quarter of fiscal 2008, the Company 

further drew on the term debt facility by $18.0 million USD to complete the acquisition of the PMD product line from 

L-3 Communications Ltd. and to complete additional build-out work on the building in El Segundo. The term debt draws 

are at interest rates that range from LIBOR plus 225 bps to LIBOR plus 360 bps.

In the second quarter of 2009, the Company issued 7,797,000 common shares in a bought deal transaction 

with a syndicate of underwriters. Gross proceeds of the transaction, which was completed on February 26, 2009, were 

$23.0 million. Net proceeds were approximately $21.5 million. The proceeds will be used primarily to progress the 

commercialization of the Company’s strategic Automatic Identification System technology, with the remainder to be 

available for general corporate purposes.

OFF-BALANCE ShEET ARRANGEMENTS
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements, other than operating leases disclosed in the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements, as at the end of the 2009 fiscal year.

TRANSACTIONS WITh RELATED PARTIES
The Company had no transactions with related parties in fiscal 2009. 

FOURTh qUARTER
The Company booked $67.0 million in new orders in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, compared with approximately 

$60.0 million in the fourth quarter of 2008. The book-to-bill ratio for the quarter was 1.15, compared to 1.00 in the 

fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. It is important to note that contract awards in the space market are typically character-

ized as lumpy, which historically has resulted in uneven new order levels on a quarter-by-quarter basis. Revenues for 
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the fourth quarter were $58.3 million, compared with $61.2 million in the prior quarter, and $59.8 million in the fourth 

quarter of fiscal 2008. Gross margins were 24.7% in the fourth quarter, down from 29.3% in the prior quarter, and down 

from 28.7% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008. The decrease in fourth quarter margins reflected the impact of signifi-

cant cost growth on two Canadian government projects. 

During the fourth quarter, the Company generated $12.8 million in cash from operating activities, compared with 

the prior quarter where the Company used $6.2 million in cash from operating activities. In the fourth quarter of 2008, 

the Company generated $11.5 million in cash from operating activities. 

The Company invested $10.9 million in capital asset and in intangible asset additions during the fourth quarter 

of 2009. The Company invested $4.0 million in capital assets during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 and $4.3 million 

in the third quarter of 2009. The Company ended the quarter with $21.4 million in cash, compared with $19.8 million at 

the end of the prior quarter, and $16.1 million at the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008.

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
While the Company continues to evaluate potential business expansion initiatives, it has no firm proposed transactions 

as at October 31, 2009.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

(in thousands of dollars)  Total  2010  2011 2012 2013 2014
2015 & 
beyond

Long-term debt*   $ 19,988   $ 6,587   $ 6,789   $ 5,218   $ 1,394   $ –   $ –

Operating leases   $ 2,916   $ 1,954   $ 767   $ 195   $ –   $ –   $ –

Capital leases   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –

Purchase obligations**   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –   $ –

Other long-term obligations***   $ 5,302   $ 132   $ 179   $ 252   $ 337   $ 460   $ 3,942

Total contractual obligations   $ 28,206   $ 8,673   $ 7,735   $ 5,665   $ 1,731   $ 460   $ 3,942

 *  Long-term debt appears on the balance sheet using the effective interest rate method of valuation in accordance with recent GAAP pronouncements. 
 **   Defined as an agreement to purchase goods and services that is enforceable and legally binding on the Company and that specifies all significant terms 

including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing of the transactions.
 ***  Includes expected future benefit payments to certain employees under a defined benefit pension plan.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND OThER INSTRUMENTS
The Company realizes a significant portion of its revenues in U.S. dollars and incurs most of its expenses in Canadian 

dollars. The Company utilizes foreign exchange options to hedge the net cash flow risk associated with forecasted 

transactions in foreign currencies but does not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes. The Company utilizes 

derivative instruments to manage the risk associated with anticipated cash flows that will be denominated in foreign 

currencies. The Company does not designate or measure the effectiveness of the derivative instruments as hedges 

of specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions and, accordingly, does not meet the requirements of CICA 

Handbook Section 3865, Hedges, to apply hedge accounting. The Company generally uses foreign exchange put 

options and related call options to manage foreign currency risk related to sales to customers in the United States and 

United Kingdom.

Derivative financial instruments are carried at their fair values. Realized and unrealized gains and losses associated 

with the derivative instruments are included in “foreign exchange loss” in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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In 2009, the gain from appreciation in fair value of the Company’s hedge options was $3.6 million, compared to a loss 

of $6.0 million in 2008.

On October 31, 2009, the Company had outstanding foreign exchange call options with a notional value of 

$92.3 million maturing at an average exchange rate of $1.0885 (October 31, 2008: $42.8 million at $1.1383). 

The Company had outstanding foreign exchange put options with a notional value of $123.9 million at an average 

exchange rate of $1.1237 (October 31, 2008: $59.2 million at $1.1703). The Company is exposed to credit risk  

on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to default on their contractual obliga-

tions to the Company. The Company minimizes this risk by limiting counterparties to these contracts to Canadian 

Schedule A Chartered Banks.

SUMMARy OF qUARTERLy FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
(in thousands of dollars, except earnings per share figures)

Fiscal 2009 Quarters January 31 April 30 July 31 October 31 Total

Total revenue  $ 56,511  $ 64,104  $ 61,451  $ 58,344  $ 240,410 

Net income – total  $ 4,354  $ 4,853  $ 5,241  $ 858  $ 15,306

Net income per share (basic and diluted)  $ 0.06  $ 0.07  $ 0.07  $ 0.01  $ 0.21 

Fiscal 2008 Quarters January 31 April 30 July 31 October 31 Total

Total revenue  $ 44,880  $ 54,165  $ 51,483  $ 59,820  $ 210,348

Net income – total  $ 1,345  $ 1,964  $ 4,285  $ 4,785  $ 12,379

Net income per share (basic and diluted)  $ 0.02  $ 0.03  $ 0.06  $ 0.07  $ 0.18

Historically, the Company’s revenues have been lowest in the first quarter. This is due to the fact that the first 

quarter has the lowest number of working days as the operations shut down over the Christmas period for maintenance 

and vacation. Since the Company reports revenue on a percentage of completion basis, the lower number of workdays 

typically translates to less revenue. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based upon management’s historical experience and various other 

assumptions that are believed by management to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such assumptions and esti-

mates are evaluated on an ongoing basis and form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets 

and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Management believes the following critical accounting policies affect its more significant estimates and assump-

tions used in the preparation of its consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
The Company generally provides goods and services to its customers under long-term contracts. The Company recog-

nizes revenue on long-term contracts on the percentage of completion basis, based on costs incurred relative to the 

estimated total contract costs. Losses on such contracts are accrued when the estimate of total costs indicates that a 

loss will be realized. Contract billings in excess of cost and accrued profit margins are included as deferred revenue and 

included in current liabilities.
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A portion of the Company’s revenue is derived from the sale of goods and services on short-term agreements and 

purchase orders as well as “cost-plus” government contracts. The revenue from short-term agreements and purchase 

orders are recognized when the goods and services are delivered to the customer and collection is reasonably assured. 

Cost-plus contract revenue is recognized as eligible costs are incurred on the applicable contracts.

Project Costs to Complete
At the outset of each customer project, an estimate of the total expected cost to complete the scope of work under 

contract is made. During the course of the projects, these estimates are reviewed and revised to reflect current expecta-

tions of cost to complete, and total cost. These estimates are based on specific knowledge of the status of the project 

as well as historical understanding of costs on similar projects. Cost elements include material, direct labour and over-

head costs, with labour and overhead costs being determined using pre-determined costing rates applied to estimated 

labour hours required to complete the scope of work under contract. These estimates are reviewed on a monthly and 

quarterly basis to ensure the estimates reflect the current expectations for total costs; however, this is not a guarantee 

that unforeseen or additional costs could be incurred, which would have an impact on the project’s total cost, reported 

revenue and gross margins. Management believes it has a review procedure in place to ensure the validity of these 

estimates at the time they are made.

Useful Life of Intangible and Long-Term Assets
The Company has established policies for determining the useful life of its intangible and long-term assets, and amor-

tizes the costs of these assets over those useful lives. The useful life for each category of asset is determined based 

on the expectation of its ability to continue to generate revenues, and thus, cash flows for the Company. This ability is 

tested periodically to ensure the conditions still exist to allow the asset to be reflected at its net-recorded value in the 

accounts of the Company, and any impairment to the valuation is reflected in the accounts at the time the impairment 

is determined.

Income Tax Liabilities
The Company establishes a tax provision based on its calculation of taxable income in any year. Occasionally, the 

Company is subjected to audits by various federal and provincial agencies. When adjustments are proposed, the 

Company assesses its position with respect to the issue, and when it considers the Company’s position to be correct, 

may object to proposed adjustments. Management estimates the likelihood of succeeding in its position, and where 

appropriate, provides for amounts estimated to be payable, or reports in notes to the Company’s financial statements. 

For a complete description of carry-forward tax balances, the future tax asset, and associated valuation reserve against 

that future tax asset, see Note 5 to the 2009 audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contract Penalties
In some cases, the Company enters into contracts with its customers for the delivery of equipment, where penalties are 

incurred for late delivery. When the Company wins these orders, it assumes that the cost of the penalties will not be 

incurred unless the project schedule indicates that contracted delivery dates will not be met. At that time, the individual 

projects are charged with the cost associated with expected penalties.
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ChANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
The Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants’ (CICA) Accounting Standards Board has announced that Canadian 

publicly accountable enterprises will adopt IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective for 

fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 and therefore will commence in the first quarter of the Company’s 

2012 fiscal year with comparative figures. 

COM DEV is receiving assistance from Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”) with the Company’s IFRS conversion project. 

The Company will follow a five key phase approach to ensure successful conversion to International Financial Reporting 

Standards. The five phases are:

1. IFRS diagnostic impact assessment

Perform a high level review to identify significant differences between Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 

(“GAAP”), as adopted by COM DEV, and IFRS. 

Status: This phase is substantially complete. The findings of the diagnostic assessment are that there are several 

areas that may require a significant degree of effort to quantify the impact on the opening balance sheet and to put in 

place procedures and controls to efficiently and effectively address the particular IFRS difference on an ongoing basis. 

These areas include the following:

Property, Plant and Equipment•	

Impairment of Long Lived Assets•	

Business Combinations•	

Revenue Recognition•	

Income Taxes•	

Foreign Currency Translation•	

Employee Benefits•	

2. Design and planning

Using the outputs from the diagnostic assessment, a master plan for the conversion project will be compiled. This plan 

will include schedules, resource requirements and output specifications.

Status: Detailed plan, with estimates of resource requirements, has been carried out. Scheduling of resources to 

be finalized in Q1 of 2010.

3. Solution development

This phase will carry out a full assessment of the changes required to accounting and business systems in order to 

migrate to IFRS. This phase will include completing a formal authorization process to approve recommended accounting 

policy changes and training processes across the Company’s divisions. 

Status: Not started. Phase 3 is expected to be carried out between Q1 and Q3 of fiscal year 2010.

4. Implementation

This phase will implement the solutions identified in Phase 3. The culmination of this phase will be the collection of 

all the financial information necessary to produce IFRS-compliant financial statements, embedding IFRS in business 

processes and Audit Committee approval of IFRS financial statements.

Status: Not started. Phase 4 is expected to be carried out between Q2 and Q4 of fiscal year 2010.
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5. Post-implementation review

This phase will be to ensure ongoing compliance with IFRS and to take into account the changing IFRS landscape. 

Status: Not started.

Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-Controlling Interests
In 2009, the CICA issued three new accounting standards which are aligned with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”): CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations; Section 1601, Consolidated Financial 

Statements and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests. Section 1601 establishes standards for preparing con-

solidated financial statements after the acquisition date; Section 1602 establishes standards for the accounting and 

presentation of non-controlling interest. These new standards must be adopted concurrently with Section 1582. 

Section 1582 provides clarification as to what an acquirer must measure when it obtains control of a business, the basis 

of valuation and the date at which the valuation should be determined. Acquisition-related costs must be accounted for 

as expenses in the periods they are incurred, except for costs incurred to issue debt or share capital. This new standard 

will be applicable for acquisitions the Company completes on or after November 1, 2011 although adoption in 2010 is 

permitted to facilitate the transition to IFRS in 2011. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets
In February 2008, the CICA released Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, replacing the previous 

CICA Handbook Sections 3062 (Goodwill and Intangible Assets), and 3450 (Research and Development Costs). The 

objectives of the changes are to reinforce a principle-based approach to the recognition of costs as assets and to clarify 

the application of the concept of matching revenues and expenses. See Note 2 to the 2009 audited Consolidated 

Financial Statements for additional description of the requirements of this Handbook Section 3064. The effective date 

of adopting this new section for the Company was November 1, 2008. As required by the standard, the Company has 

retroactively reclassified computer software assets and internally developed technology on the consolidated balance 

sheets from property, plant and equipment to intangible assets. The impact of adopting this standard did not have any 

effect on the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Inventories
On November 1, 2008, the Company adopted the requirements of the CICA Handbook Section 3031, Inventories, which 

replaces CICA Handbook Section 3030. The new standard does not apply to the Company’s contracts in progress. The 

standard prescribes the measurement of inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Items that are written 

down to net realizable value are required to be adjusted back up to cost if there is a subsequent increase in the net 

realizable value. Other than additional required disclosures, which are provided in Note 1(d) and Note 4, there was no 

material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
On November 1, 2008, the Company adopted EIC-issued Abstract No. 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial 

Assets and Financial Liabilities. EIC-173 requires an entity to take into account its own credit risk and that of the 

relevant counterparties when determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including derivative 

instruments. The new guidance did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.



30 COM DEV 2009 Annual Report

Financial Instruments – Disclosures & Presentation
In December 2006, the CICA released Handbook Section 3862 and 3863, Financial Instruments – Disclosures & 

Presentation, effective for all annual and interim periods beginning on or after November 1, 2007, and accordingly, 

the Company adopted these new Handbook Sections in its 2008 fiscal year. These new Handbook Sections include 

required disclosures for the assessment of the significance of financial instruments for an entity’s financial position and 

performance and of the extent of risks arising from financial instruments to which the Company is exposed and how 

the Company manages those risks. CICA Handbook Section 3863 carries forward the presentation requirements of 

CICA Handbook Section 3861. There was no impact on the Company’s results as a result of the adoption of these new 

standards was not material. In 2009, the Company adopted an amendment to CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial 

Instruments – Disclosures, that provides improvements to fair value and liquidity risk disclosures. The new disclosures 

are included in Note 10. The new guidance has not affected the consolidated financial position or net income of the 

Company. Comparative information is not required in the year of adoption.

Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates, and Errors
In July 2006, the Accounting Standards Board issued a new Section, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates, and 

Errors. This standard affects when an accounting policy may be changed, how any resulting changes are to be applied, 

and what disclosures must be made. Adoption is for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2007, which resulted in 

the Company adopting this Section in its fiscal year 2008. The impact of the adoption of this standard on the consoli-

dated results of operations or financial position was not material.

Capital Disclosures
In December 2006, the CICA released Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures, effective for all annual and interim 

periods beginning on or after November 1, 2007, and accordingly, the Company adopted this new Section in its 2008 

fiscal year. This new Section establishes standards for disclosing information about an entity’s capital and how it is 

managed. The entity’s disclosure should include information about its objectives, policies and processes for managing 

capital, and disclose whether or not it has complied with any capital requirements to which it is subject and the con-

sequences of non-compliance. There was no impact on the Company’s results from adopting this new standard. For 

further information, see Note 11 to the 2009 audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

BUSINESS RISkS AND PROSPECTS

Global Economic Environment
Recent events have demonstrated that businesses and industries throughout the world are very tightly connected to 

each other. Thus, events seemingly unrelated to the Company or its industry, such as the recent extraordinary devel-

opments in global financial markets, may adversely affect the Company over the course of time. For example, rapid 

changes to foreign currency exchange rates may adversely affect the Company’s financial results. Credit contraction in 

financial markets may hurt the Company’s ability to access credit in the event that it identifies an acquisition oppor-

tunity or some other opportunity that would require a significant investment in resources. Government payments to 

support financial institutions and other distressed industries may reduce the amount of money government agencies 

have to spend on space and defence related projects. A reduction in credit, combined with reduced economic activity, 

may adversely affect prime contractors and other businesses that collectively constitute a significant portion of the 

Company’s customer base. As a result, these customers may need to reduce their purchases of COM DEV’s products or 
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services, or the Company may experience greater difficulty in receiving payment for the products or services that these 

customers purchase from the Company. Any of these events, or any other events caused by turmoil in world financial 

markets, may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results, and financial condition.

New Products and Technological Change
The market for the Company’s products is characterized by rapidly changing technology involving industry standards 

and frequent new product introductions. The Company’s success will depend upon market acceptance of its existing 

products and its ability to enhance its existing products and to introduce new products and features to meet changing 

customer requirements. A current example of this is the Company’s efforts to exploit its Automatic Identification System 

(AIS) detection and de-collision capabilities by entering the AIS data sales market through its new subsidiary Company, 

exactEarth Ltd. There can be no assurance that the Company will be successful in identifying, developing, manufacturing 

and marketing new products or enhancing its existing products. The Company’s business will be adversely affected if the 

Company incurs delays in developing new products or enhancements or if such products or enhancements do not gain 

market acceptance. In addition, there can be no assurance that products or technologies developed by others will not 

render the Company’s products or technologies non-competitive or obsolete.

Reliance on Significant Customers and Credit Concentration
The satellite industry is characterized by a small number of prime contractors, which represents most of the Company’s 

customer base. The relatively small number of customers leads to a concentration of the Company’s revenues and 

accounts receivable. If one or more customers were to delay, reduce or cancel orders, the overall orders of the Company 

may fluctuate and could adversely affect the Company’s operations and financial condition. While the Company’s 

accounts receivable tend to be concentrated, many of our customer receivables, by virtue of their non-Canadian status, 

are insured with Export Development Canada (“EDC”). While the Company expects to be able to continue to access 

receivables insurance through EDC, there is no assurance that this will be the case, and any subsequent credit loss could 

have a material adverse effect on the business and its financial condition. COM DEV is increasing its penetration with a 

number of smaller satellite manufacturers, as well as in satellite market segments outside the traditional commercial 

communications sector, to help mitigate the risk associated with having a small number of customers.

Fluctuations in Operating Results
The Company’s revenues and earnings fluctuate from quarter to quarter, or year to year, based on customer requirements 

and the timing of orders. While the Company recognizes revenue on a percentage of completion basis for long-term 

contracts, it has experienced fluctuations in its quarterly operating results and anticipates that such fluctuations may 

continue. The Company’s revenue is derived in large part from long-term fixed price contracts, some of which are 

subject to significant technology risk. As a result, the Company’s financial reporting relies upon management’s estimates 

of earned revenues and the costs required to complete the project. Revision to the estimates used in the preparation 

of the Company’s financial results could have a material impact on financial results of future periods. There can be 

no assurance that levels of profitability will not vary significantly among quarterly or annual periods. The Company’s 

operating results may fluctuate as a result of many factors, including increased competition, the size and timing of sig-

nificant customer orders, cancellations of significant projects by customers, changes in operating expenses, changes in 

the Company’s strategy, personnel changes, foreign currency exchange rates and general economic and political factors.
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The Company’s expense levels are based in significant part on its expectations regarding future revenues. 

Accordingly, the Company may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to compensate for any unexpected 

revenue shortfall. Any significant revenue shortfall could therefore have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 

results of operations.

Project Performance
Any inability of the Company to execute customer projects in accordance with requirements, including adherence to 

delivery timetables, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operations and prospects.

Sources of Supply
The Company uses some subcomponents for which there is only a single source of supply. As a result, the Company 

may occasionally suffer shortages of such subcomponents, which shortages may have short-term adverse effects on the 

Company’s sales. Although the Company seeks to reduce exposure to single source suppliers through a continual evalu-

ation of competent alternate sources of supply, the loss of certain of these suppliers, or the inability of certain of these 

suppliers to deliver to the Company on a timely basis, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operations 

and prospects.

Dependence on Key Personnel
The Company is highly dependent on the continued service of and its ability to attract and retain qualified technical 

and engineering personnel. The competition for such personnel is intense and the loss of particular persons, as well as 

the failure to recruit additional key technical personnel in a timely manner, could have a material adverse effect on the 

Company’s business.

Product Failure
COM DEV operates in a market where product reliability is essential. While the Company enjoys a strong reputation for 

product reliability, any significant product failure could materially affect the Company’s reputation, revenue and future 

business prospects.

Failure to Perform Contracts
Contracts for the Company’s products may include penalties and/or incentives related to performance, which could 

materially affect operating results. Management provides for any anticipated penalty costs in its estimates of the 

costs to complete a contract and the contract generally limits any penalties to 5% or less of the contract value. 

The Company’s products are complex, use sophisticated technologies and often involve a lengthy development and 

manufacturing cycle. In addition, these products are integral to the customer’s satellite payload and alternate sources 

of supply may not be available in the time required, or at all. Consequently, any failure by the Company to satisfy its 

contractual obligations could trigger losses in excess of the value of the contract. Since the Company often works on 

large individual contracts, the claims against the Company could be material.

Competition
COM DEV’s competitors, who are generally its customers, are larger, better capitalized and have greater resources than 

the Company. The Company believes that its ability to compete depends in part on a number of competitive factors, 

some of which are outside its control, such as innovative products or cost-saving production techniques developed by 
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the Company’s competitors. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to compete successfully with its 

existing competitors or with new competitors.

Changing Business Conditions
The Company’s future operating results will substantially depend on the ability of its officers and key employees to 

manage changing business conditions and to implement and improve its operational, financial control and reporting 

systems. If the Company is unable to respond to and manage changing business conditions, the quality of the 

Company’s services, its ability to retain key personnel and its results of operations could be materially adversely affected. 

The Company has recently expanded into the U.S. with the purchase of a facility to be used to design, engineer and 

produce equipment for its customers involved in U.S. government satellite programs. The inability to effectively address 

this new market could result in a material adverse effect on the results of the Company’s operations.

Future Capital Requirements
The Company’s future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the development of new products, 

the progress of the Company’s research and development efforts, the rate of expansion and the status of competitive 

products. Depending on these factors, the Company may require additional financing which may or may not be available 

on acceptable terms. If additional funds are raised by issuing equity securities, dilution to the existing shareholders may 

result. If adequate funds are not available, the Company may not be able to achieve its growth objectives and opera-

tional targets, which could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business.

Risks Associated with Intellectual Property
The Company’s success is dependent upon proprietary technology. The Company relies upon patent protection to 

protect its proprietary technology. In addition, the Company attempts to protect its trade secrets and other proprietary 

information through agreements with customers, suppliers, employees and consultants and through other security 

measures. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Company in this regard will be adequate to prevent 

misappropriation or independent third-party development of its technology. Furthermore, the laws of certain countries in 

which the Company sells its products do not protect the Company’s intellectual property rights to the same extent as do 

the laws of Canada or the United States.

Although the Company believes that its products and technology do not infringe patents or other proprietary 

rights of others, there can be no assurance that third parties will not claim that the Company’s current or future prod-

ucts infringe the patents or other proprietary rights of others. Any such claim, with or without merit, could result in costly 

litigation or could require the Company to enter into royalty or licensing agreements. Such royalty or licensing agree-

ments, if required, may not be available on terms acceptable to the Company or at all.

Foreign Exchange Risk
The Company carries on a significant portion of its business in the United States and elsewhere outside Canada, and 

the majority of its sales outside of Canada are made in U.S. dollars. Any weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar, British 

pound or Euro against the Canadian dollar would result in lower revenues and margins for the Company when stated 

in Canadian dollars. The Company does engage in hedging its U.S. dollar-denominated net cash flows, and is actively 

targeting efficiency improvements in its operations, both in terms of productivity and cost control. These measures will 

continue to be taken regardless of the currency environment. The Company also seeks to contract in Canadian dollars in 

its Canadian operations wherever possible.
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Seasonal Volatility
The Company recognizes revenue based on percentage of completion in accordance with its stated accounting policy. 

Since the recognition of revenue is determined by costs incurred on projects compared to total expected costs, and 

since a large portion of the Company’s project costs are labour, any quarter with fewer working days will cause suppres-

sion in labour effort exerted on projects, and consequently, revenue recognized. Typically, the Company slows production 

during the Christmas holiday season to provide time for maintenance and facilities improvements to take place. As a 

result, the Company’s first quarter revenues are typically the lowest of the year.

Tax Assessments
The Company has recently undergone audits by Canada Revenue Agency and the Ontario Ministry of Finance. As a result 

of the audits, several adjustments to prior year returns have been proposed for capital taxes and corporate minimum 

taxes. The Company has considered the proposed assessments and opposes several matters on the basis of its 

interpretation of the tax rules and has made submission to the tax authorities on this basis. The Company is currently 

unable to determine the likelihood of success of its objection to the proposed assessments. The disputed tax amounts 

total $3.3 million, including accrued interest. Any amount of tax liability arising from these assessments will be recorded 

when the probable amounts can be determined. While the Company expects that if it is required to pay additional taxes, 

a significant amount will be recoverable against future tax amounts, there is no guarantee that this will be the case.

Timing Risks
There can be no assurance that the market demand for the Company’s products will translate into orders within the 

time frames anticipated. The timing and extent of satellite procurement, and the Company’s ability to secure project 

orders stemming from anticipated satellite procurement activity could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 

business, operations and prospects.

New Market Risks
The Company has identified, as part of its strategic direction, civil/government and military/defense markets for its 

product and service offerings. While the Company has seen some success in initial penetration into these markets, 

there can be no assurance, given the Company’s limited experience and operating history in these markets, that the 

Company’s investment and efforts in these markets will be successful. Failure to succeed in the civil/government and 

military/defense markets may adversely affect the Company’s future business, financial condition and operating results.

Regulatory Environment for Technology and Materials
Certain of the Company’s programs are subjected to export controls either domestically or through International Traffic 

in Arms Regulations (ITAR). This regulatory environment places strict controls over receipt, use, transfer and export of 

technology, material and equipment. While the Company understands the requirements of these controls and regula-

tions, there is no assurance that these regulations, or their interpretations by regulatory authorities, will not change in a 

way that would cause a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operations and prospects.
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Enterprise Risk Management
During the prior year, management established the position of Director, Enterprise Risk Management to oversee the 

Company’s assessment of the various significant risks it faces, and to coordinate and facilitate the establishment of risk 

mitigation actions and plans.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance that material 

information required to be publicly disclosed by a public company is communicated in a timely manner to senior man-

agement to enable them to make timely decisions regarding public disclosure of such information. We have conducted 

an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of October 31, 2009 under the supervision, and with the 

participation of, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive 

Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in the rules 

adopted by Canadian securities regulatory authorities) are effective in providing reasonable assurance that material infor-

mation relating to COM DEV is made known to them and that information required to be disclosed by us is recorded, 

processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified under applicable law.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles. Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining ade-

quate internal control over financial reporting. Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may 

not prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. Additionally, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of 

internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate 

because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Our management used the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) framework 

to evaluate the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief 

Financial Officer have assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting and concluded that, as at 

October 31, 2009, such internal control over financial reporting is effective and that there were no material weaknesses. 

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during 2009 that have materi-

ally affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

OUTSTANDING ShARE DATA
Details of the Company’s outstanding share data as of January 11, 2010 are as follows:

Common shares  76,100,289

Options on common shares  1,664,339

 Each option is exercisable for one common share of the Company. 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITy FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
The management of COM DEV International Ltd. is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements and related financial information of the Company. The Consolidated Financial Statements, notes 
and other financial information included in this Annual Report were prepared in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles. The Consolidated Financial Statements include amounts that are based on manage-
ment’s best estimates. The primary objective of financial reporting is to provide users of financial statements with 
sufficient relevant information. The consolidated financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual Report is 
consistent with the Consolidated Financial Statements. In fulfilling its responsibility for the reliability and integrity of 
financial information, management has established and maintains a system of internal controls and budgeting proce-
dures. Management believes that these systems and controls provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded; 
that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization and recorded properly to permit the 
preparation of reliable financial statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been certified by the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer in accordance with National Instrument 52-109 – Certification of 
Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings.

The Consolidated Financial Statements are reviewed and approved by the Board of Directors and Audit 
Committee, which oversee management’s reporting responsibilities. Ernst & Young LLP, the independent auditors 
appointed by the shareholders of the Company, have examined the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and their report accompanies this one. The shareholders’ auditors 
have full and free access to the Audit Committee to discuss audit findings, financial reporting and other related matters.
 January 11, 2010

 
 
 John Keating   Gary Calhoun    
 Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of COM DEV International Ltd.

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of COM DEV International Ltd. as at October 31, 2009 and 
2008 and the consolidated statements of operations, changes in equity and cash flows for the years then ended. These 
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as at October 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.
 

  Chartered Accountants 
Licensed Public Accountants 
Kitchener, Canada, 
December 11, 2009.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE ShEETS  

(Canadian dollars in thousands)

 
As at October 31, 

2009
As at October 31, 

2008

Assets 

 Current 

  Cash and cash equivalents   $ 21,404   $ 16,102 

  Accounts receivable  53,674  41,085 

   Inventories (notes 2 & 4)  51,114  45,941 

   Prepaids and other  3,112  1,772 

   Income taxes recoverable (note 14(d))  4,615  2,819 

   Future income tax assets – current (note 5)  6,192  3,957 

  140,111  111,676

  Property, plant and equipment (note 7)  69,537  66,863 

  Intangible assets (notes 6 and 8)  21,459  18,510 

  Goodwill (note 6)  2,388  2,522 

  Future income tax assets – long term (note 5)  1,723  3,958 

  Total assets   $ 235,218   $ 203,529 

Liabilities 

  Current 

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   $ 32,939   $ 35,467 

   Deferred revenue (note 4)  22,510  14,828 

   Current portion of loans payable (note 9(b))  6,587  6,203 

  62,036  56,498

 Long term 

   Loans payable (note 9(b))  13,401  23,223 

   Employee future benefits (note 16)  1,872  2,224 

   15,273  25,447

 Total liabilities  77,309  81,945 

Non-controlling interest  486  524 

Shareholders’ equity 

  Share capital (note 13(a))  345,885  323,975 

  Contributed surplus  2,804  1,879 

  Deficit  (188,759)  (204,065)

  Accumulated other comprehensive income  (2,507)  (729)

  Total shareholders’ equity  157,423  121,060 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 235,218   $ 203,529 

On behalf of the Board: 

Terry Reidel 
Chairman of the Board

Kym Anthony 
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Consolidated statements of Changes in equity 

(Canadian dollars in thousands)

For the year ended October 31, 2009 Total Deficit

Accumulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income Share Capital Contributed Surplus

Balance, October 31, 2008   $ 121,060   $ (204,065)   $ (729)   $ 323,975   $ 1,879 

Comprehensive income

 Net Income  15,306  15,306  –    –    –   

 Foreign currency translation  
  adjustments (net of taxes of $nil)  (1,778)  –    (1,778)  –    –   

 13,528  15,306  (1,778)  –    –   

Common stock issued  21,752  –  –  21,910  (158)

Value of ESOP awards  185  –    –    –    185 

Expense recognized for  
 stock-based compensation  898  –    –    –    898 

Balance, October 31, 2009   $ 157,423   $ (188,759)   $ (2,507)   $ 345,885   $ 2,804 

For the year ended October 31, 2008

Balance, October 31, 2007   $ 106,423   $ (216,444)   $ (1,993)   $ 323,862   $ 999 

Comprehensive income

 Net Income  12,379  12,379  –    –    –   

 Foreign currency translation  
  adjustments (net of taxes of $nil)  1,264  –    1,264  –    –   

 13,643  12,379  1,264  –    –   

Common stock issued  2  –    –    113  (111)

Value of ESOP awards  179  –    –    –    179 

Expense recognized for  
 stock-based compensation  812  –    –    –    812 

Balance, October 31, 2008   $ 121,060   $ (204,065)   $ (729)   $ 323,975   $ 1,879
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  

(Canadian dollars in thousands, except per share figures)

For the year ended October 31 2009 2008

 Revenue (note 15)   $ 240,410   $ 210,348 

 Cost of revenue  175,553  156,227 

 Gross margin  64,857  54,121 

 Research and development costs  17,475  17,381 

 Research and development recovery  3,914  7,832 

 Net research and development  13,561  9,549 

 Selling and general expenses  33,065  29,531 

 Operating income  18,231  15,041 

 Interest expense  533  845 

 Foreign exchange loss  2,002  1,375 

 Other expense  428  455 

Income before non-controlling interest  15,268  12,366 

 Non-controlling interest  (38)  (13)

Net income   $ 15,306   $ 12,379 

Earnings per share (note 13(e))

Basic and diluted earnings per share   $ 0.21   $ 0.18

Basic weighted average number of shares  73,551,227  68,057,380 

Diluted weighted average number of shares  73,604,941  68,332,462 
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Consolidated statements of Cash flows  

(Canadian dollars in thousands)

For the year ended October 31 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities

 Net income   $ 15,306   $ 12,379 

 Amortization (notes 7 and 8)  11,300  9,891 

 Gain on disposal of assets  –    (92)

 Defined benefit expenses  398  202 

 Stock compensation expense  898  812 

 Employee stock option plan awards  185  179 

 Unrealized foreign exchange loss on long-term debt  –    1,528 

 Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss on derivatives  (3,639)  5,998 

 Non-controlling interest  (38)  (13)

 24,410  30,884 

 Net change in non-cash working capital items  (14,339)  (32,144)

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities  10,071  (1,260)

Cash flows from financing activities

 Shares issued  21,752  2 

 Advance of long-term debt  –    18,174 

 Repayment of long-term debt  (6,923)  (3,320)

Cash flows from financing activities  14,829  14,856 

Cash flows from investing activities

 Acquisition of capital assets  (13,016)  (9,610)

 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant, and equipment  79  213 

 Acquisition of intangible assets  (7,548)  (4,494)

 Business acquisition (note 6)  (140)  (13,525)

 Employee future benefits contributions (note 16)  (584)  (264)

Cash Flows used in investing activities  (21,209)  (27,680)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  1,611  (1,176)

Net increase (decrease) in cash from continuing operations  5,302  (15,260)

Net cash used in discontinued operations  –    (351)

Net increase (decrease) in cash  5,302  (15,611)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  16,102  31,713 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 21,404   $ 16,102 

Interest paid   $ 965   $ 1,456 
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. SUMMARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
These consolidated financial statements of COM DEV International Ltd. (the “Company” or “CDI”) have been prepared 

by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles on a basis consistent with prior 

periods. All financial amounts are expressed in thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share information or as other-

wise indicated. These consolidated financial statements have, in management’s opinion, been properly prepared within 

reasonable limits of materiality and within the framework of the significant accounting policies summarized below.

a) Basis of Consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all of the Company’s subsidiaries with inter-

company transactions and balances eliminated. The Company’s principal wholly owned subsidiaries are COM 

DEV Limited (“CDL”), COM DEV Europe Limited (“CDE”), COM DEV USA LLC (“CDU”), COM DEV US Property LLC 

(“CD US Property”), COM DEV Consulting Ltd. (“CD Consulting”), exactEarth Ltd., and the Company’s 70% owned 

subsidiary, COM DEV Microwave Electronics Company Limited (“Xian”).

b) Use of Estimates
 The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 

the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 

period. Estimates include, but are not limited to, the value of contract work in progress and recognition of revenue 

related to the percentage of completion of contract work, the determination of doubtful accounts, impairment of 

long-lived assets, intangibles, and goodwill, useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant, and equipment, 

determination of net recoverable value of assets, contracts in progress, and future income tax assets, valuation of 

employee future benefits liabilities, and contingencies. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

c) Cash and Cash Equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and short-term investments that mature within 

90 days from the date of acquisition. Short-term deposits are carried at their fair values. Fair values of  

short-term investments with maturity less than 90 days approximate the carrying amount.

d) Inventory
 Inventories, other than contracts in process, are valued at the lower of cost on a weighted average basis and net 

realizable value. Cost of raw materials includes the purchase cost and the cost incurred in bringing each product 

to its present location and condition. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 

business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Items that 

are written down to net realizable value are adjusted back up to cost if there is a subsequent increase in the net 

realizable value. The majority of inventory is raw materials and component parts held for use in the contracts in 

progress projects and are not written down below cost if the finished products in which they will be incorporated 

are expected to be sold at or above cost.

  Contracts in process are valued at cost plus accrued profit margins, less billings issued to date and less the 

full amount of any anticipated losses.
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e) Property, Plant and Equipment
 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost and amortization is recorded using the straight-line method  

as follows:

  Buildings     - forty years

  Machinery     - five to fifteen years

  Electrical equipment, furniture and fixtures  - five to ten years

   Computer hardware and software integral  

 to the hardware on which it operates  - three to five years

f) Goodwill
 Goodwill represents the excess of consideration paid over the fair value of the total identifiable tangible and 

intangible assets acquired. Goodwill is tested for impairment in accordance with the Canadian Institute of 

Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section 3064, on at least an annual basis or upon the occurrence of 

certain events or circumstances which may indicate that the asset might be impaired. CICA 3064 requires good-

will impairment to be assessed at a reporting unit level. The Company has defined the reporting units to be CDI, 

CDL, CDE, exactEarth Ltd., and the U.S. operations (CDU, CD US Property and CD Consulting). All of the goodwill 

acquired has been allocated to the U.S. operations reporting unit. 

  The impairment test is carried out in two steps. In the first step, the carrying amount of the reporting unit 

including goodwill is compared with its fair value. Fair value of the reporting unit is measured using a discounted 

cash flow model. When the fair value exceeds the carrying amount, goodwill is considered not to be impaired 

and the second step is considered unnecessary. In the event that the fair value of the reporting unit, including 

goodwill, is less than the carrying value, a second step is performed whereby the implied fair value of goodwill 

is compared with its carrying amount to measure the impairment loss, if any. The implied fair value of goodwill 

is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business combination using the 

reporting unit fair value as if it was a purchase price. When the carrying amount of goodwill exceeds the implied 

fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to the excess and is presented as 

a separate line on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Any impairment of goodwill is written off against 

income in the period that such impairment becomes evident.

g) Intangible Assets
 Finite life intangible assets are valued at cost less accumulated amortization, which is provided at rates sufficient 

to write off the costs over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight-line method as follows:

  Patents       - up to seventeen years

  Customer relationships    - the term of the programs up to eight years 

  Non-compete agreement     - over term of agreement (three years)  

  Acquired processes     -  over the expected life of the technology  

up to five years

   Computer software not integral to  

 the hardware on which it operates  - three to five years

  Internally developed technology   - five to seven years

 Patent costs represent amounts paid to third parties for the development or acquisition of patents.



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 43

  Costs that are directly attributable to the development and testing of identifiable and unique internally 

developed technology controlled by the Company are recognized as intangible assets when the criteria specified 

in CICA Handbook Section 3064 are met. Capitalized costs include employee costs for staff directly involved in 

technology development and other expenditures directly related to the project. Other development expenditures 

that do not meet the capitalization criteria under CICA Handbook Section 3064 are recognized as research and 

development expense as incurred.

h) Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
 When events and circumstances warrant a review, the Company evaluates the carrying value of its long-lived 

assets for potential impairment. An impairment loss is recognized when the estimated net recoverable amount 

of a long-lived asset is less than its carrying value. The impairment loss is measured as the excess, if any, of the 

carrying value over the fair value of the asset. Any impairment in these assets is written off against income in  

the year that such impairment becomes evident.

i) Leases
 Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership of the leased assets to the Company 

are capitalized by recording the present value of future minimum payments under the lease as a capital asset and 

a liability on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Assets recorded under capital leases are amortized using the rates 

consistent with those used by the Company for similar assets. All other leases are accounted for as operating 

leases and the related lease payments are expensed as incurred.

j) Income Taxes
 The Company uses the liability method to account for income taxes. Under this method, future income tax assets 

and liabilities are determined based upon differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets 

and liabilities, and measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the 

differences are expected to reverse. In assessing the realizable amount of future tax assets, management con-

siders whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all the benefit of the future income tax assets will be 

realized. The ultimate realization of future tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income 

and/or tax planning strategies.

k) Revenue Recognition
 The Company generally provides goods and services to its customers under long-term contracts. The Company 

recognizes revenue on long-term contracts on the percentage of completion basis, based on costs incurred rela-

tive to the estimated total contract costs. Losses on such contracts are accrued when the estimate of total costs 

indicates that a loss will be realized. Contract billings in excess of cost and accrued profit margins are included as 

deferred revenue and included in current liabilities.

  A portion of the Company’s revenue is derived from the sale of goods and services on short-term agree-

ments and purchase orders as well as “cost-plus” government contracts where the Company recovers its costs 

plus a profit margin as set out in the contract. The revenue from short-term agreements and purchase orders are 

recognized when the goods and services are delivered to the customer and collection is reasonably assured.  

Cost-plus contract revenue is recognized as eligible costs are incurred on the applicable contracts.



44 COM DEV 2009 Annual Report

l) Research and Development 
 The Company is engaged at all times in research and development work. The Company expenses research and 

development costs as incurred, unless they meet Canadian generally accepted accounting principles for rec-

ognition as an internally generated intangible asset. Investment tax credits reduce research and development 

expense and/or intangible assets in the same period in which the related expenditures are charged to earnings 

or capitalized, provided there is reasonable assurance the benefit will be realized.

  Research and development costs that are funded by the Company are presented separately on the 

Consolidated Statements of Operations. Research and development costs that are funded by customers or other 

programs are included in cost of revenue. Government grants and other funding for research activity are presented 

as a reduction of the related expense. The Company recognized investment tax credits of $nil in 2009 (nil in 2008), 

which are included in research and development recovery in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

m) Foreign Currency Translation
 Foreign denominated monetary items of Canadian operations are translated into Canadian dollars at the exchange 

rate in effect at year-end. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rate prevailing at the time of the 

transaction. The resulting gain or loss from translation is recorded in income.

  The accounts of the Company’s self-sustaining foreign operations, CDE and Xian, are translated using 

the current rate method, whereby assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the 

Consolidated Balance Sheet date and revenue and expenses are translated at the average rate for the period, 

which approximates the rate prevailing at the time of the transaction. Unrealized translation gains and losses are 

deferred and included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”).

  The accounts of the Company’s operations in the United States, COM DEV USA LLC, COM DEV US Property 

LLC, and COM DEV Consulting Ltd., were translated up to August 31, 2008 using the temporal method as they 

were considered integrated foreign operations, whereby assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are translated in 

a manner that retains their basis of measurement in terms of the Canadian dollar. Monetary items are translated 

at the exchange rate in effect at the period end. Non-monetary items are translated at historical exchange rates, 

unless such items are carried at market, in which case they are translated at the exchange rate in effect at the 

period end. Revenue and expense items are translated at the average rate for the period which approximates the 

rate prevailing at the time of the transaction. Amortization of assets is translated at historical exchange rates 

using the same exchange rates as the assets to which it relates.

  Effective September 1, 2008, the Company determined that all of the U.S. operations met the conditions to 

be considered self-sustaining and accordingly, are translated using the current rate method from that date forward.

n) Derivative Financial Instruments
 The Company, in the management of its foreign currency exposures, utilizes derivative financial instruments. 

The Company generally uses foreign exchange put options and related call options to manage foreign currency 

risk related to sales to customers in the United States and United Kingdom. The Company has elected not to 

apply hedge accounting and accordingly, carries derivatives at their fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in “Foreign exchange loss” in the Consolidated Statements 

of Operations.
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o) Government Assistance 
 Government assistance is periodically received in the form of grants or loans that may be repayable in the form 

of royalties based on future sales levels related to the technology funded. Amounts that are repayable will be 

accounted for in the period in which conditions arise that will cause repayment. Government assistance with 

predetermined repayment requirements is recorded as a liability when received. If no predetermined repayment 

requirements exist, the assistance is treated as a reduction in the cost of the related item.

p) Earnings per Share
 Basic earnings per share is calculated on the basis of income attributable to holders of common shares, divided 

by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is 

calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that would occur if securities or other contracts to issue common 

shares were exercised or converted to common shares using the treasury stock method. The treasury stock 

method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of the in-the-money stock options together with 

unamortized compensation expense are used to repurchase common shares at the prevailing market rate, thereby 

reducing the number of shares otherwise used to calculate the diluted earnings per share. 

q)   Stock-Based Compensation, Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) and Long-Term  
Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)
 The Company provides compensation to employees in the form of a stock option plan. The Company only grants 

stock options with an exercise price equal to the market value of the underlying stock on the date of grant. 

The Company employs a fair value method of accounting for all options granted to employees or directors. 

The fair value of the direct grants of stock is determined by the quoted market price of the Company’s stock at 

the time of the award and the fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 

model. The fair value of awards issued is recorded over the period of vesting as compensation expense and 

contributed surplus. When the options are exercised, the proceeds received, together with any related amount 

in contributed surplus, are credited to share capital.

  Direct grants of stock to employees and stock options granted to non-employees are being accounted for 

in accordance with a fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation.

  The Company offers employees the option of contributing a portion, between 2.5% and 10%, of their gross 

salary towards the purchase of common shares of the Company through the ESOP. The Company issues one 

share for every four shares that employees purchase during the plan year, which runs from March 1 to February 28. 

The Company’s matching contribution will be issued to the employee contingent upon the employee remaining 

employed by the Company on the date one year following the end of the plan year. The fair values on the date 

that the employees commit to purchase shares are used to determine the applicable compensation expense to 

the Company. The compensation expense is recognized over the period from the date the employee acquires the 

shares to the date the Company-matching shares are issued to the employee. The accumulated amount of ESOP 

shares charged to income but not yet issued is included in contributed surplus.

  During the year, the Company established an LTIP for executives and certain employees. Under the terms 

of this plan, participants are eligible to receive incentive remuneration in the form of Restricted Share Units 

(“RSUs”) and/or Performance Share Units (“PSUs”). RSUs are time based and will vest automatically (“cliff vest”) 

three years after the grant date. Each RSU, once vested, entitles the holder to receive one common share of 

the Company. The Company will buy common shares on the open market to satisfy obligations under the plan. 
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The value of the RSUs is based on the fair market value of the Company’s shares on the day of the grant and 

accounted for as an equity settled instrument. The estimated fair value of the RSUs is amortized to expense over 

the vesting period.

  The value of the PSUs is based on the fair market value of the shares on the day of the grant and is 

accounted for as an equity settled instrument. The vesting term of the PSUs is three years commencing on the 

date of the grant, and incorporates performance vesting features based upon achieving certain return on net 

assets and revenue growth targets established over the vesting period. Each PSU, once vested, entitles the holder 

to receive one common share of the Company. The Company will buy common shares on the open market to 

satisfy obligations under the plan. The estimated fair value of the PSUs that are expected to achieve the per-

formance targets is amortized to expense over the vesting period. If, in the future, the performance criteria are 

expected to not be met, then the change is treated as a change in estimate and therefore, the cumulative effect 

of the change will be adjusted through income in the period.

r)  Employee Future Benefit Plans

 Defined Contribution Pension Plan

 The Company sponsors a defined contribution pension plan for certain of its employees. The cost of providing 

benefits through the defined contribution pension plan is charged to income in the period in which the contribu-

tions become payable.

 Defined Benefit Pension Plan

 The defined benefit plan has four different benefit structures that cover former L-3 Electron Technologies Employees. 

Retirement benefits are based on the employee’s service and compensation history. Some of the employees are 

required to contribute towards the cost of their plan benefits. The employer’s portion of plan costs is actuari-

ally determined using the projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of 

high quality long-term bond rates, salary escalation and retirement ages of employees. Differences arising from 

plan amendments, changes in assumptions and experience gains and losses are recognized in income over the 

expected average remaining service life of employees. Gains related to plan curtailments are recognized when the 

event precipitating the curtailment has occurred. Actuarial gains and losses are amortized using the 10% corridor 

method where the Company recognizes amortization of actuarial gains or losses in a period in which the unamor-

tized net actuarial gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the accrued benefit obligation or the fair value of the 

plan assets at the beginning of the year. Plan assets are measured at fair value. The assets supporting the pension 

benefits are held in a separate trusteed pension fund.

 Non-Pension Benefits

 The Company accounts for the cost of employer provided non-pension retirement benefits including medical 

and vision benefits for eligible retirees, their spouses and qualified dependents on an accrual basis. These costs 

are recognized in income in the period in which the services are rendered and actuarially determined using the 

projected benefit method pro-rated on service and management’s best estimate of high quality, long-term bond 

rates, retirement ages of employees and expected health care costs.
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s) Financial Instruments
The Company has classified its financial instruments as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are classified as held-for-trading.•	

Accounts receivable are classified as loans and receivables.•	

Bank indebtedness is classified as held-for-trading.•	

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and long-term debt are classified as other liabilities.•	

Derivative financial instruments are classified as held-for-trading.•	

 All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value and are subsequently accounted for based on their 

classification. The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount of consideration that would be agreed upon 

in an arm’s-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties who are under no compulsion to act. 

The fair value of a financial instrument on initial recognition is the transaction price, which is the fair value of the 

consideration given or received. 

  Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and liabilities classified as held-for-trading are measured 

at fair value with changes in fair value recorded on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The fair values 

are based on quoted market bid prices if available; otherwise fair value is obtained using discounted cash flow 

analysis. Financial assets classified as loans and receivables, and other financial liabilities are carried at amortized 

cost using the effective interest rate method. 

  In accordance with CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – Disclosures, the Company cat-

egorizes its fair value measurements according to a three-level hierarchy. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used 

by the Company’s valuation techniques. A level is assigned to each fair value measurement based on the lowest 

level input significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 

defined as follows:

  Level 1 – fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for identical 

assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

  Level 2 – fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices for similar assets and 

liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in inactive markets, inputs 

that are observable that are not prices (such as interest rates and credit risks) and inputs that are derived from or 

corroborated by observable market data. 

  Level 3 – fair value measurements using significant non-market observable inputs. These include valuations 

for assets and liabilities that are derived using data, some or all of which is not market observable data, including 

assumptions about risk. 

 Embedded Derivatives

 The Company enters into certain non-financial instrument contracts, which contain embedded foreign currency 

derivatives. Where the contract is not leveraged, does not contain an option feature and is denominated in a 

currency that is commonly used in the economic environment where the transaction takes place, the embedded 

derivative is not accounted for separately from the host contract. Changes in the fair value of embedded derivatives 

will be recognized on a basis consistent with the host contract on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
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2. ChANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

a) Inventories (CICA 3031)
 On November 1, 2008, the Company adopted the requirements of the CICA Handbook Section 3031, Inventories, 

which replaces CICA Handbook Section 3030. The new standard does not apply to the Company’s contracts in 

progress. The standard prescribes the measurement of inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Items that are written down to net realizable value are required to be adjusted back up to cost if there is a  

subsequent increase in the net realizable value. Other than additional required disclosures, which are provided  

in Note 1(d) and Note 4, there was no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

b) Goodwill and Intangible Assets (CICA 3064)
 On November 1, 2008, the Company adopted the requirements of the CICA Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill 

and Intangible Assets, which replaces CICA Handbook Sections 3062, Goodwill and Intangible Assets, and 3450, 

Research and Development Costs. Section 3064 establishes guidance for the recognition, measurement, presen-

tation of goodwill and intangible assets, including internally generated intangible assets.

  As required by the standard, the Company has retroactively reclassified computer software assets and inter-

nally developed technology on the consolidated balance sheets from property, plant and equipment to intangible 

assets. The net book value of the computer software reclassified as of October 31, 2008 was $3,885. The net 

book value of the internally developed technology reclassified as of October 31, 2008 was $1,212.

c) Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 On November 1, 2008, the Company adopted EIC issued Abstract No. 173, Credit Risk and the Fair Value of 

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. EIC-173 requires an entity to take into account its own credit risk and 

that of the relevant counterparties when determining the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, 

including derivative instruments. The new guidance did not have a material impact on the consolidated  

financial statements.

d) Fair Value and Liquidity Risk Disclosure
 In 2009, the Company adopted an amendment to CICA Handbook Section 3862, Financial Instruments – 

Disclosures, that provides improvements to fair value and liquidity risk disclosures. The new disclosures are 

included in Note 10. The new guidance has not affected the consolidated financial position or net income of the 

Company. Comparative information is not required in the year of adoption.

3. FUTURE ACCOUNTING ChANGES

 Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-Controlling Interests

 In 2009, the CICA issued three new accounting standards which are aligned with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”): CICA Handbook Section 1582, Business Combinations; Section 1601, Consolidated Financial 

Statements; and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests. Section 1601 establishes standards for preparing 

consolidated financial statements after the acquisition date; Section 1602 establishes standards for the accounting 

and presentation of non-controlling interest. These new standards must be adopted concurrently with Section 1582. 

Section 1582 provides clarification as to what an acquirer must measure when it obtains control of a business, 

the basis of valuation and the date at which the valuation should be determined. Acquisition-related costs must 

be accounted for as expenses in the periods they are incurred, except for costs incurred to issue debt or share 
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capital. This new standard will be applicable for acquisitions the Company completes on or after November 1, 2011 

although adoption in 2010 is permitted to facilitate the transition to IFRS in 2011. 

 International Financial Reporting Standards

 The CICA Accounting Standards Board has announced that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will  

adopt IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board effective for fiscal years beginning on or 

after January 1, 2011 and therefore will commence in the first quarter of the Company’s 2012 fiscal year, with  

comparative figures. 

  The Company will follow a four key phase approach to ensure successful conversion to International 

Financial Reporting Standards. 

 The four phases, described in more detail in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, are:

IFRS diagnostic impact assessment1. 

Design and planning2. 

Solution development3. 

Implementation4. 

 It is not practically possible at this time to quantify the impact of these differences. The Company expects to 

make changes to processes and systems before the 2011 fiscal year, in time to enable the Company to record 

transactions under IFRS for comparative purposes in the 2012 financial year reporting.

4. inventory and deferred revenue
Inventory is comprised of:

 2009 2008

Raw materials   $ 14,577   $ 13,626

Contracts in process – costs and profits earned in excess of progress billings  36,537  32,315

Total Inventory   $ 51,114   $ 45,941

  The amount of inventory recognized as an expense and included in cost of revenue accounted for other 

than by percentage-of-completion method during the year ended October 31, 2009 was $4,538 ($4,487 in 

2008). The amount charged to net income and included in cost of revenue for the write-down of inventory for 

valuation issues during the year ended October 31, 2009 was $1,160 ($1,249 in 2008). There have been no 

reversals of previous write-downs during the year. 

 Deferred revenue is comprised of:

 2009 2008

Contract billings in excess of cost and accrued profit margins  
 earned on contract work in process   $ 22,510   $ 14,828
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5. INCOME TAxES 

a) Carry Forward Amounts
 The Company has non-refundable investment tax credits, which total $30,561 federally and $911 provin-

cially. These investment tax credits are available to offset future federal and provincial income taxes payable. 

The Company has federal and provincial operating loss carry forwards in Canada of $5,204. The carry forwards 

subject to expiration are as follows:

 
Investment  
Tax Credits

Operating Loss 
Carry Forward

2018   $ 676   $ – 

2019  2,180  –

2020  2,167  –

2021  2,555  –

2022  1,468  –

2023  1,165  –

2024  936  –

2025  2,829  –

2026  4,299  15

2027  4,038  82

2028  4,201  1,946

2029  4,958  3,161

   $ 31,472   $ 5,204

 The Company has unclaimed Scientific Research and Experimental Development (“SRED”) tax pools for Canada 

of $63,881 for both federal and provincial, which are available to offset future taxable income. These SRED 

amounts have an unlimited carry forward period. The Company’s subsidiary in the United Kingdom has unlimited 

loss carry forwards of $19,572 (£11,025). The Company’s U.S. subsidiaries have loss carry forwards of $22,952 

($21,215USD) that expire between 2011 and 2029. In addition, the Company has capital loss carry forwards in 

the amount of $76,112 which have an unlimited life and can be used to offset any future capital gains.

b) Reconciliation of Income Tax Rates
 The difference between the amount of the consolidated provision for income taxes and the amount computed by 

multiplying income before taxes by the statutory rate is reconciled as follows:

 2009 2008

Income before non-controlling interest  
  and income taxes multiplied by the Company’s 

tax rate   $ 5,051  33.08%   $ 4,224  34.16%

Differences in income taxes resulting from:

Non-deductible expenses  615  (61) 

Utilization of losses and SR&ED pool  
 not recognized for accounting  (6,927)  (8,316)

Tax rate changes in utilization of losses  
 not recognized for accounting  (329)  (1,156)

Losses not recognized for accounting  1,590  4,419

Foreign exchange translation  –   890  

   $ –    $ –  
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Tax effects of significant temporary differences are as follows:

 2009 2008

Assets

 Tax paid reserves   $ 1,368   $ 3,171

 Research and development incentives  41,424  30,297

 Loss carry forwards  16,559  21,194 

 Capital assets  –  631

   $ 59,351   $ 55,293

Liabilities

 Deferred revenue   $ 10,252   $ 11,424

 Capital assets  1,149  –

   $ 11,401   $ 11,424

Net future tax assets   $ 47,950   $ 43,869

Valuation allowance  40,035  35,954

Future tax asset   $ 7,915   $ 7,915

Less: current portion  6,192  3,957

Future tax asset   $ 1,723   $ 3,958

  On November 16, 2009, Ontario Bill 218, an Act to implement 2009 Budget measures and to enact, 

amend or repeal various Acts, was tabled and received first reading in the Legislature. This Bill contains previously 

announced proposed Ontario corporate tax rate reductions. Since there is a majority government and the Bill has 

received first reading, these tax rate changes are considered substantively enacted. The effect of these rate changes 

would be a reduction in the future tax asset of $1,200 and a reduction in the valuation allowance of $1,200.

6. ACqUISITION
 Effective May 9, 2008, the Company purchased certain assets of the Passive Microwave Devices product line of 

L-3 Communications Electron Technologies Inc. (ETI-PMD).

  The acquisition has been accounted for using the purchase method and the Company has included the 

results of operations in its consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition effective May 9, 2008.

  The aggregate purchase price paid in cash was $13,665. Final negotiations of the purchase price and 

related allocations for this acquisition were completed during the year. Goodwill increased by $140 for additional 

acquisition costs related to the transaction.
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 2009 2008

Acquisition price   $ 12,405   $ 12,405

Acquisition costs  1,260  1,120

Total purchase price   $ 13,665   $ 13,525

Allocated to:

Capital assets   $ 7,686   $ 7,686

Non-compete agreement  1,274  1,274

Customer relationships  3,388  3,388

Patents  3,680  3,680

Acquired processes  474  474

Payable to vendor  (324)  (324)

Employee future benefits  (1,936)  (1,936)

Other liabilities  (2,845)  (2,845)

Goodwill  2,268  2,128

Total net assets acquired   $ 13,665   $ 13,525

7. PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are comprised as follows:

 2009 2008

 Cost
Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Book 
Value Cost

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Book 
Value

Land

Buildings

Machinery

Electrical equipment

Computer hardware 

Furniture and fixtures

 $ 8,341

 40,344

 19,641

 76,732

 19,140

 7,739

 $ –

 13,135

 6,902

 58,310

 17,977

 6,076

 $ 8,341

 27,209

 12,739

 18,422

 1,163

 1,663

 $ 8,041

 38,101

 20,139

 70,688

 18,182

 7,662

 $ –

 11,799

 4,606

 55,802

 17,783

 5,960

 $ 8,041

 26,302

 15,533

 14,886

 399

 1,702

  $ 171,937  $ 102,400  $ 69,537  $ 162,813  $ 95,950  $ 66,863

  Included in property, plant and equipment are $5,241 of machinery and equipment ($919 in 2008), $2,109 

of buildings and furniture and fixtures ($3,211 in 2008), and $881 of computer hardware (nil in 2008) that has 

not yet commenced being amortized as the assets are capital in progress and not yet ready for use. There were 

no capital leases entered into during fiscal 2009 and 2008.

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment for the year was $7,856 ($7,223 for 2008).  
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets are comprised as follows: 

 2009 2008

 Cost
Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Book 
Value Cost

Accumulated 
Amortization

Net Book 
Value

Patents  $ 8,879  $ 2,995  $ 5,884  $ 8,814  $ 2,300  $ 6,514

Customer relationships  5,778  1,743  4,035  6,186  1,047  5,139

Non-compete agreement  1,354  677  677  1,507  251  1,256

Acquired processes  503  151  352  560  56  504

Computer software  14,210  9,940  4,270  12,469  8,584  3,885

Internally developed technology  6,241  –  6,241  1,212   –  1,212

  $ 36,965  $ 15,506  $ 21,459  $ 30,748  $ 12,238  $ 18,510

  Included in intangible assets are computer software of $1,006 ($86 in 2008) and internally developed 

technology of $6,241 ($1,212 in 2008) that has not yet commenced being amortized, as development is still in 

progress. Amortization of intangible assets for the year was $3,444 ($2,668 for 2008).

9. BANk INDEBTEDNESS AND LOANS PAyABLE

a) Bank Indebtedness
 During the 2009 fiscal year, the Company’s bank has made available working capital facilities to the Company. 

This agreement provides for an operating facility of up to $32,000 ($27,000 in 2008). The only outstanding 

drawings against this operating facility at year-end are $1,031 in the form of guarantee letters issued to cus-

tomers in the normal course of operations by the bank on behalf of the Company. The interest rate applicable to 

the operating credit facility available from the Company’s bank is the chartered bank’s prime rate plus 0.75%. 

This facility is provided subject to certain covenants, including certain minimum financial ratios. 

  The collateral for this arrangement includes a general security agreement on certain assets of the 

Company, security under Section 427 of the Bank Act (Canada), as well as assignment of insurance policies.

 As at October 31, 2009, the Company was in compliance with its bank covenants.

 Interest paid on bank indebtedness during the year was $17 ($67 in 2008).

b) Loans Payable
Loans payable are comprised as follows:

 2009 2008

Government of Canada   $ 258   $ 310

GE Capital Solutions loans  19,730  29,116

 19,988  29,426

Less: current portion of loans payable  (6,587)  (6,203)

Long-term loans payable   $ 13,401   $ 23,223
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Principal repayments are due as follows:

For the year ending  

2010   $ 6,587

2011  6,789

2012  5,218

2013  1,394

   $ 19,988

 The interest rate applicable to the GE Capital Solutions loans is the LIBOR rate plus a rate that varies between 

2.25% and 3.60%.

  The collateral for these arrangements includes a general security agreement on the capital assets of the 

Company as well as assignment of insurance policies.

  The GE Capital Solutions loans are being amortized over five years with quarterly payments of principal and 

interest totaling $7,720 ($6,579 USD) in 2009 ($4,302 ($4,270 USD) in 2008). Interest paid on the GE Capital 

Solutions loan in the year was $918 ($778 USD) and $881 ($876 USD) in 2008.

  The Company has a product development agreement with Technology Partnerships Canada (TPC) that 

provides partial funding for certain research and development projects. Royalties of 4.9% are to be paid on annual 

gross product revenues resulting from the project to March 1, 2013. If total royalties paid by March 1, 2013 are 

equal to or exceed $3,263, the payment obligation will be terminated. If total royalties paid at that date are less 

than $3,263, the payment obligation shall continue until March 1, 2016 or until $3,263 is paid, whichever comes 

first. A royalty payment of $34 was made in 2009 ($17 in 2008). It is not possible to determine the timing of the 

ultimate amount that will be repaid in connection with this arrangement and accordingly, no amount is accrued.

  The Government of Canada loan in conjunction with TPC is without interest or specific security with payments 

due annually until March 2013. The carrying value of the Government of Canada loan included in loans payable 

was arrived at using a discount rate of 6%. During 2009 and 2008, installment payments totaling $74 were made, 

reducing the carrying value, net of the effective interest, to $258 as at October 31, 2009 ($310 in 2008).

10.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – RISk MANAGEMENT OBjECTIVES  
AND POLICIES
 For the Company’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivables and accounts payable and accrued liabili-

ties, the fair values approximate their respective carrying amounts due to their short maturities. The fair values 

of foreign currency call and put option contracts have been estimated using market quoted rates of foreign 

currencies. These option contracts have been classified as Level 2 within the 3-level, fair value hierarchy. 

The Government of Canada loan, included in loans payable, has a fair value at October 31, 2009 of $267 

($312 in 2008) that approximates the carrying value of $258. The fair value of the Government of Canada loan 

is calculated using discounted cash flows with a discount rate comprised of the Bank of Canada prime rate plus 

2% which is indicative of the Company’s borrowing rate. The fair value of the GE Capital loans, included in loans 

payable, approximates the carrying value due to their variable interest rate terms policy.
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 Foreign Currency Risk 

 Transaction Exposure

 The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its functional 

currency, the Canadian dollar. The majority of the Company’s revenues are transacted in U.S. dollars. Portions of the 

revenues are denominated in Canadian dollars, British pounds, and Euros. Purchases of raw materials, and other 

expenses, consisting primarily of the majority of salaries, certain operating costs and manufacturing overhead, are 

incurred primarily in Canadian dollars. The Company utilizes foreign exchange put options and related call options 

contracts to hedge the net cash flow risk associated with forecasted transactions in foreign currencies but does not 

enter into derivatives for speculative purposes. The Company does not designate or measure the effectiveness of 

the derivative instruments as hedges or specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions and accordingly, does 

not meet the requirements of CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. Management policy is to mitigate between 

75% and 100% of the foreign exchange fluctuations on expected USD net cash flows.

 Translation Exposure

 The Company’s foreign operations, CDE and Xian, are considered self-sustaining. Accordingly, assets and 

liabilities are translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates. 

Unrealized translation gains and losses are deferred in AOCI. The accumulated currency translation adjustments 

are recognized in income when there is a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.

  The Company’s foreign operations, COMDEV USA LLC, COM DEV US Property LLC and COM DEV 

Consulting Ltd., are translated up to August 31, 2008 into Canadian dollars using the temporal method. 

Unrealized gains and losses are recorded in net income. Effective September 1, 2008, the Company assessed 

the U.S. operations to be self-sustaining. Accordingly, from September 1 forward the assets and liabilities are 

translated into Canadian dollars using the exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates using the current 

rate method. Unrealized translation gains and losses are deferred in AOCI. The accumulated currency translation 

adjustments are recognized in income when there is a reduction in the net investment in the foreign operations.

  Foreign currency risks arising from translation of assets and liabilities of foreign operations into the 

Company’s functional currency are generally not hedged, however, the Company does hedge this risk with respect 

to the U.S. operations. Effective September 1, 2008, the Company began to hedge the translation risk by des-

ignating the U.S. dollar denominated loans used in the acquisition of the U.S. operations as a hedge of the net 

investment. The foreign exchange on the translation of the U.S. dollar denominated loans is also deferred in AOCI, 

as the hedge is considered effective.

  The Company’s derivatives, which are not designated in hedging relationships, are classified as held-for-

trading and the changes in fair value are recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. During the 

year ended October 31, 2009, the fair value of derivatives classified as held-for-trading increased by $3,639 

(decreased by $5,998 in 2008).

  At October 31, 2009, approximately 43% of cash and cash equivalents, 55% of accounts receivable, and 

37% of accounts payable and accrued liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies (October 31, 2008 – 49%, 

60%, and 32%, respectively). These foreign currencies include the U.S. dollar, British pound, and Euro.
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  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk on the following cash, accounts receivable, and accounts 

payable, denominated in foreign currencies:

Currency Cash
Accounts 

Receivable
Accounts  

Payable

USD   $ 5,757   $ 21,311   $ 8,184

GBP   £ 658   £ 126   £ 1,544

EUR  –   € 3,888   € 180

 As at October 31, 2009, the Canadian dollar amount that could be received under Canadian / U.S. foreign cur-

rency call options was $92,309 ($42,802 in 2008) and the amount that could be paid under foreign currency 

put options was $123,883 ($59,219 in 2008). The average contractual exchange rate on the call options was 

1.0885 and on the put options was 1.1237. The settlement dates of all the outstanding contracts are distributed 

over the next two years. The exchange rate at October 31 was 1.0819 (1.2045 in 2008).

  During 2009, the Company recorded a net realized loss of $2,224 ($275 in 2008) and net unrealized gain 

of $3,639 (net unrealized loss of $5,998 in 2008) on foreign currency options that have been included in “foreign 

exchange loss” on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. At October 31, 2009, the fair value of option 

contracts of $624 is included in “Prepaids and other”, and $3,015 in 2008 is included in “Accounts payable and 

accrued liabilities” on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

  The majority of the Company’s foreign exchange risk resides with U.S. dollars and Euro transactions, 

with minimal impact on transactions in British pounds. To evaluate the sensitivity of net income and Other 

Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) to a reasonably possible change in the U.S. dollar and Euro exchange rates, various 

exchange rates were entered into models which considered the valuation impact to customer contracts, hedging 

contracts, U.S. dollar cash balances and U.S. and Euro denominated monetary balance sheet items. During 2009, 

the impact if the U.S. dollar had appreciated in value by 5% would have been an increase in net income and 

OCI of $4,056 ($2,880 in 2008). Had the U.S. dollar depreciated by 5% used as an indicative range in a volatile 

currency environment, the impact would have been a decrease in net income and OCI of $4,563 ($2,998 in 

2008). During 2009, the impact had the Euro appreciated in value by 5% would have resulted in an increase in 

net income and OCI of $922 ($1,055 in 2008). Had the Euro depreciated by 5%, the impact would have been a 

decrease in net income and OCI of $922 ($1,055 in 2008).

 Interest Rate Risk 
  The Company’s risk exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s long-term debt 

obligation with GE Capital Solutions with floating interest rates.

  The Company’s policy is to review its borrowing requirements on a continual basis and to enter into fixed or 

variable interest rate borrowing arrangements as required.

  To evaluate the sensitivity on net income from possible changes in interest rates, the impact of an 

interest rate change was modeled on the floating rate borrowings while all other variables were held constant. 

Based on these assumptions, the impact for the year ended October 31 from a 200 basis point increase in 

interest rates as indicative of the change in prime lending rates over the past year would have been a decrease 

in net income of $293 ($207 in 2008) and an increase in net income of $293 ($207 in 2008) if there had 

been a 200 basis point decrease.
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 Credit Risk
 The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is best represented by the carrying amount of the 

Company’s accounts receivable, unbilled contracts in progress, and derivative financial instruments. The Company 

is exposed to credit risk from the potential default by counterparties that carry the Company’s cash, cash equiva-

lents, and derivative financial instruments, and attempts to mitigate this risk by dealing only with large financial 

institutions with good credit ratings. All of the financial institutions within the bank syndicate providing the 

Company’s credit facility meet these qualifications.

  Credit risk also arises from the inability of customers to discharge their obligation to the Company. 

The satellite industry is characterized by a small number of prime contractors, which represents most of the 

Company’s customer base. The relatively small number of customers leads to a concentration of the Company’s 

revenues and accounts receivable. COM DEV is increasing its penetration with a number of smaller satellite 

manufacturers, as well as in satellite market segments outside the traditional commercial communications sector, 

to help mitigate the risk associated with having a small number of customers. If one or more customers were 

to delay, reduce or cancel orders, the overall orders of the Company may fluctuate and could adversely affect the 

Company’s operations and financial condition. The Company, in the normal course of business, monitors the 

financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new customer. The Company manages 

the collection risk on foreign receivables by carrying credit insurance through Export Development Canada that 

insures 90% of receivables, primarily those from foreign customers, to protect against commercial and political 

risk. Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 day terms. There are balances past 

due but no amounts are considered impaired and therefore the Company does not have an impairment allowance. 

Four customers comprise 61% of accounts receivable as at October 31, 2009 (58% in 2008). Four customers 

comprise 60% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2009 (54% in 2008).

  The Company has reviewed its outstanding trade receivables and unbilled contracts in progress in detail 

and has determined that the aging profiles are within historical expectations. The Company has historically had 

no impairment of its trade receivables and unbilled contracts in progress.

 Liquidity Risk
 Liquidity risk is the Company’s ability to meet its financial obligations when they come due. The Company moni-

tors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of its 

financial assets (e.g., accounts receivables, other financial assets), liabilities (e.g., payables, loans), and projected 

cash flows from operations. The Company’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and 

flexibility through borrowing facilities available through the Company’s bank and GE Capital Solutions, finance 

leases and purchase contracts. The Company’s bank facility includes a treasury risk management facility to 

facilitate hedging of currency related risks arising in the normal course of operations. The Company’s policy is to 

ensure adequate funding is available from operations, established lending facilities and other sources as required. 

As at October 31, 2009, the Company has operating credit facilities of $32,000 that have been approved but not 

drawn upon except for the guarantee letters described in Note 9.
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  The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual 

undiscounted payments.

 On Demand < 3 Months
3 to 12 
months 1 to 5 years Total

October 31, 2009

Loans and interest payable  $ –  $ 1,769  $ 5,380  $ 13,908  $ 21,057

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,368  23,799  6,772  –  32,939

Total  $ 2,368  $ 25,568  $ 12,152  $ 13,908  $ 53,996

October 31, 2008

Loans and interest payable  $ –  $ 1,972  $ 5,990  $ 23,448  $ 31,410

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  2,784  23,057  9,626  –  35,467

Total  $ 2,784  $ 25,029  $ 15,616  $ 23,448  $ 66,877

11. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The primary objectives of the Company’s capital management are:

to ensure that it maintains strong credit ratings and exceeds its borrowing covenants in order to support its  •	

business and maximize shareholder value, and

to provide an adequate return to shareholders by pricing products and services commensurately with the •	

level of risk undertaken.

  The Company monitors capital on a basis consistent with others in the industry based on total debt to 

shareholders’ equity. Capital is defined as shareholders’ equity as presented on the balance sheet excluding AOCI 

and total debt is defined as the sum of short-term and long-term interest-bearing debt. The Company uses the 

percentage of total debt to total capital to monitor the capitalization of the Company. The Company is not subject 

to any capital requirements imposed by a regulator. 

12. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
 The Company established a provision for discontinuance of the Wireless Division in 2001. The provision has 

been drawn down through time as expenses have been paid. The remaining obligation for discontinued opera-

tions is included in the liabilities section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The balance of the provision as 

at October 31, 2009 is $45 ($47 in 2008).
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13. ShARE CAPITAL AND EARNINGS PER ShARE

a) Issued Capital
 The Company has authorized an unlimited number of preferred shares of which there are none outstanding. 

The Company has authorized an unlimited number of common shares with no par value. The following details 

the changes in issued and outstanding common shares for the two years ended October 31, 2009:

 Common Shares

 Number Dollar Value

Balance, October 31, 2007  68,035,418   $ 323,862

Issuance of common shares (i)  2,000  2

Shares issued through employee plan (iii)  15,515  111

Balance, October 31, 2008  68,052,933   $ 323,975

Issuance of common shares (i)  215,100  389

Equity issue of common shares (ii)  7,797,000  21,423

Shares issued through employee plan (iii)  35,256  98

Balance, October 31, 2009  76,100,289   $ 345,885

(i)   In fiscal 2009, the Company issued 215,100 (2,000 in 2008) common shares to satisfy the equiva-

lent number of stock options exercised of which 62,000 of the options represent options issued after 

November 1, 2003 (nil in 2008).

(ii)   On February 26, 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with a syndicate of underwriters led by 

Genuity Capital Markets and including GMP Securities L.P. and Paradigm Capital Inc. Under the agreement, 

the syndicate purchased 6,780,000 and exercised the option to acquire an additional 1,017,000 of common 

shares from the Company. Net proceeds of $21,423 will be used to pursue strategic opportunities, including 

progressing the commercialization of the Company’s Automatic Identification System (AIS) technology.

(iii)  On February 28, 2009, the Company issued 35,256 (32,270 in 2008) common shares under the ESOP. 

On September 24, 2008, the Company directed its Transfer Agent to cancel 16,755 common shares 

issued in error in the administration of ESOP.

    The maximum number of shares outstanding if all options were exercised and ESOP shares were 

issued is 77,850,036.

b) Stock Based Compensation
 The Company employs a fair value based method of accounting for all options issued to employees or directors 

on or after November 1, 2003. The Company recognizes compensation cost for all stock options granted to 

employees and directors under its stock option plan after that date. The option exercise price is the fair value of 

the Company’s common shares at the date of the grant. During 2009, the Company granted 370,340 options 

(nil in 2008).

  Options granted vest over three years, and vested options can be exercised over a five-year period from  

the date of issue. The maximum number of shares authorized for grant under the option plan is 9.4% of the 

outstanding shares issued or 7,153,427.
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  The fair value of options issued was estimated at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes Option Model 

with the following weighted average assumptions:

 
For the year ended 
October 31, 2009

Risk–free interest rate  3.71%

Dividend yield  –

Volatility  49.3%

Expected life of options  5 years

Weighted average fair value of options granted   $ 1.51

Weighted average exercise price of options granted   $ 3.30

  The estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the vesting period of the options. 

In the year, compensation expense of $478 ($812 in 2008) was recognized. This amount was added to 

contributed surplus.

 A summary of option activity for the two years ended October 31, 2009 is as follows:   

 Number
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price

Balance, October 31, 2007  1,922,039   $ 3.50

 Stock options exercised  (2,000)  1.12

 Stock options expired  (410,940)  5.29

Balance, October 31, 2008  1,509,099  3.33

 Stock options granted  370,340  3.30

 Stock options exercised  (215,100)  1.53

Balance, October 31, 2009  1,664,339  3.56

 The outstanding options are summarized as follows:

 Options Outstanding Options Vested

 

Number 
Outstanding at 

October 31, 2009

Weighted Average 
Remaining Life  

in Years
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price

Number 
Outstanding at 

October 31, 2009
Weighted Average 

Exercise Price

Range of Exercise Prices

$1.90 – 2.85  689,616  1.22   $ 2.18  658,220   $ 2.17

$2.86 – 4.29  358,944  4.63  3.32  –  –

$4.30 – 5.14  635,779  1.66  5.14  635,779  5.14

$1.90 – 5.14  1,664,339  1,293,999

c) Employee Share Ownership Plan
 The value of Employee Stock Ownership Plan shares amortized to compensation expense but not yet issued at 

year-end was $185 ($179 in 2008). This amount is included in contributed surplus. The estimated number of 

shares, if all outstanding ESOP shares were issued is 85,407.

d) Long-Term Incentive Plan
 During the year, there were 635,106 RSUs granted. At October 31, 2009, the weighted fair value per RSU granted 

was $2.93 and the aggregate fair value of RSUs granted was $1,858. Compensation expense of $357 was 

recognized during the year. This amount is included in contributed surplus.
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  During the year, 151,589 PSUs were granted. At October 31, 2009, the weighted average fair value per 

PSU granted was $3.29 and the aggregate fair value of PSUs granted was $499. Compensation expense of 

$63 was recognized during the year. This amount is included in contributed surplus.

e) Earnings per Share
 The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the comparable 

reporting periods:

 2009 2008

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share available to common shareholders

Net income attributable to common stockholders   $ 15,306   $ 12,379

Denominator for basic earnings per share – weighted average number of shares outstanding  73,551,227  68,057,380

Effect of dilutive securities

 Employee stock options  13,716  244,102

 ESOP  39,998  30,980

Potential dilutive common shares  53,714  275,082

Denominator for diluted earnings per share – adjusted weighted average shares  
 and assumed conversions  73,604,941  68,332,462

Basic and diluted earnings per share   $ 0.21   $ 0.18

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

a) General
 The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management’s best estimate related to 

events whose outcome will not be fully resolved until future periods. The Company’s revenue is derived primarily 

from long-term fixed price contracts, some of which are subject to significant technology risk. The preparation of 

these consolidated financial statements is based on management’s estimates of revenue and the costs required 

to complete the projects. Revisions to the estimates used in preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

could have a material impact on financial results of future periods. Revenue under such contracts may include 

incentive payments for specified performance and costs may include performance related penalties.

b) Lease Commitments
 The Company is committed to various operating leases, primarily related to buildings and computers. Future 

minimum lease payments under the operating leases for the following fiscal years are approximately as follows:

Year ending October 31,  

2010   $ 1,954

2011  767

2012  195

c) Claims or Legal Actions
 In the normal course of business, the Company is involved on an ongoing basis in various legal actions, the 

outcome of which is indeterminable. In management’s opinion, the resolution of such actions will not have a 

material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company.
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d) Tax Audits
 In a prior year, Canada Revenue Agency and the Ontario Ministry of Finance completed tax audits. As a result 

of the audits, prior year tax returns have been reassessed for capital taxes and corporate minimum taxes. The 

Company opposes several matters on the basis of interpretation of the tax rules and has appealed to the tax 

authorities on this basis. The Company is currently unable to determine the likelihood of success of its objections 

to the reassessments. The disputed tax and accumulated interest amounts, including estimates for un-assessed 

years subsequent to the audit period, total $3,296. The Company will continue to provide information to the tax 

authorities and attempt to resolve these issues favourably. Any amount of tax liability arising from these matters 

will be recorded when the probable amounts can be determined. The Company expects that if it is required to pay 

additional taxes, a significant amount will be recoverable by offset against future tax amounts.

  As part of the objection process, the Company, as required, paid the full amount of the taxes in dispute. 

15. SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPhIC INFORMATION
 The Company operates principally in the satellite communication industry using complementary and compat-

ible products. The Company has one reportable business segment, the Space Division. The Space Division is a 

leading global designer and manufacturer of space hardware subsystems. With facilities in Canada, the United 

Kingdom and the United States, the Space Division designs and manufactures advanced products and sub-

systems that are sold to major satellite prime contractors for use in communications, space science, remote 

sensing and military satellites.

 Geographic Information
Revenue by customer is based on where the customer is located.

 2009 2008

Revenue from external customers

 Canada   $ 42,173   $ 43,709 

 USA  131,427  94,844

 Europe  49,784  64,084

 Other  17,026  7,711

   $ 240,410   $ 210,348 

Capital assets are attributed to the country in which they are located and patents and acquired contracts in 

the country they relate to.

Capital assets

 Canada   $ 43,984   $ 36,242

 USA  22,665  27,477

  United Kingdom  2,888  3,144

   $ 69,537   $ 66,863

Intangible assets

  Canada   $ 10,526   $ 4,305

  USA  10,919  14,197

  United Kingdom  14  8

   $ 21,459   $ 18,510
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 Goodwill of $2,388 all relates to USA. 

 Four customers comprise 60% of revenue for the year ended October 31, 2009 (54% in 2008).

16. EMPLOyEE FUTURE BENEFIT PLANS
 The Company provides certain pension and other future employee benefits to eligible participants upon retirement.

 CDE Pension Benefits
 The Company’s UK subsidiary has a defined contribution pension plan for its employees. The Company’s contribu-

tions, which are based on the contributions by employees, were $415 ($431 for 2008) and have been included in 

selling and general expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

  CDU Pension Benefits
 The Company’s U.S. subsidiary has a defined benefit plan that has four different benefit structures that cover 

former L-3 Electron Technologies Employees. 

 Management’s best estimate of the assumptions used include: 

 2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligation

  Discount rate  5.5%  7.1%

  Rate of compensation increase  3.5%  5.0%

Net periodic benefit cost

  Discount rate  7.1%  6.0%

  Rate of compensation increase  5.0%  5.0%

  Expected return on plan assets  7.0%  7.0%

  Actual return on plan assets  12.6%  (9.6%)

 

Average remaining service life of employees  8.6  8.8

 The year-end balances were measured as of October 31.
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Information about the Company’s defined benefit pension plans is as follows:

 2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligation

  Beginning of year   $ 7,408   $ 7,142

 Current service  279  145

 Interest costs  511  216

 Actuarial losses (gains)  4,679  (1,288)

 Benefits paid  (118)  –

 Currency translation (gains) losses  (1,155)  1,193

 End of year   $ 11,604   $ 7,408

Plan assets at fair value

 Beginning of year   $ 7,153   $ 6,485

 Return on plan assets  944  (732)

 Employer contributions  584  264

 Benefits paid  (118)  –

 Currency translation (gains) losses  (833)  1,136

 End of year   $ 7,730   $ 7,153

Plan deficit   $ 3,874   $ 255

 Unamortized actuarial (losses) gains  (3,584)  367

 Accrued benefit liability   $ 290   $ 622

Net periodic benefit cost

 Current service   $ 279   $ 145

 Interest costs  511  216

 Actuarial loss (gain)  407  (966)

  $ 1,197   $ (605)

 Less: return on plan assets  944  (732)

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 253   $ 127



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 65

 CDU Non-Pension Benefits
 The Company provides non-pension retirement benefits including medical and vision benefits for eligible retirees, 

their spouses and qualified dependents for its U.S. subsidiary on an accrual basis.

  The assumption used in measuring the Company’s projected retirement medical benefit obligations and net 

periodic cost are as follows:

 2009 2008

Retirement medical benefit obligations  5.5%  7.1%

Net periodic benefit cost  7.1%  6.0%

Health care cost inflation  8.0%  9.0%

 Information about the Company’s retirement medical benefits plan is as follows:

 2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligation

 Beginning of year   $ 1,602   $ 1,279

 Current service cost  75  30

 Interest costs  89  45

 Amortization of gain  (19)  –

 Currency translation  (174)  248

 End of year   $ 1,573   $ 1,602

Plan deficit   $ 1,573   $ 1,602

Unamortized actuarial gains  9  –

Accrued benefit liability   $ 1,582   $ 1,602

Net periodic benefit cost

 Current service costs   $ 75   $ 30

 Interest costs  89  45

 Amortization of gain  (19)  –

Net periodic benefit cost   $ 145   $ 75

 Sensitivity to Change In Health Care Trend Rates

 
Trend minus 1%  

in every year Current Trend
Trend plus 1%  

in every year

Retirement medical benefit obligation  1,133  1,254  1,387

Difference due to trend change  (120)  133

Percentage difference  (9.6%)  10.6%

Service Cost plus Interest Cost  148  164  182

Difference due to trend change  (16)   18 

Percentage difference  (9.7%)  10.8%
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 CDU Future Benefit Payments

 
Defined Benefit 

Pension Plan
Retirement 

Medical Total

Expected employer contribution for fiscal year ending October 31, 2010   $ 811   $ –   $ 811

Expected benefit payments

2010   $ 132   $ –   $ 132

2011  175  4  179

2012  226  26  252

2013  281  56  337

2014  358  102  460

Thereafter  2,823  1,119  3,942

   $ 3,995   $ 1,307   $ 5,302

 CDU Plan Assets
 The weighted-average asset allocation of the Company’s defined benefit pension plans at October 31  

are as follows:

Asset Category 2009 2008

Equity securities  46.8%  35.8%

Fixed income securities  40.3%  26.7%

Cash and cash equivalents  2.0%  23.9%

Other  10.9%  13.6%

Total  100.0%  100.0%

 The expected rate of return on plan assets was determined by considering the Company’s current invest-

ment mix, the historic performance of these investment categories and expected future performance of these 

investment categories.

17.  COMPARATIVE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 The comparative consolidated financial statements have been reclassified from financial statements previously 

presented in order to conform to the presentation of the current year’s consolidated financial statements.
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ANNUAL MEETING 
NOTICE

The Annual Meeting of shareholders will 
be held at the Holiday Inn Cambridge, 
200 Holiday Inn Drive, Cambridge, 
Ontario on Wednesday, April 21, 2010 
at 6:00 p.m.
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